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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2004

OR

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from              to             

Commission File Number: 000-50726

Google Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
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Delaware 77-0493581
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

1600 Amphitheatre Parkway

Mountain View, CA 94043

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip code)

(650) 623-4000

(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    YES  x    NO  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act)    YES  ¨    NO  x

At October 31, 2004, the number of shares outstanding of the registrant�s Class A common stock was 57,857,182 shares and the number of shares
outstanding of the registrant�s Class B common stock was 215,558,768 shares.
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PART I�FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Google Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except par value)

As of
December 31,

2003

As of
September 30,

2004

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 148,995 $ 344,469
Short-term investments 185,723 1,513,887
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $4,670 and $4,559 154,690 233,057
Income taxes receivable �  115,070
Deferred income taxes 22,105 48,455
Prepaid revenue share, expenses and other assets 48,721 105,273

Total current assets 560,234 2,360,211
Property and equipment, net 188,255 362,609
Goodwill 87,442 101,815
Intangible assets, net 18,114 43,660
Prepaid revenue share, expenses and other assets, non-current 17,413 20,223

Total assets $ 871,458 $ 2,888,518

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant and Stockholders� Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 46,175 $ 49,557
Accrued compensation and benefits 33,522 53,841
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 26,411 44,185
Accrued revenue share 88,672 101,973
Deferred revenue 15,346 21,888
Income taxes payable 20,705 �  
Current portion of equipment leases 4,621 3,026

Total current liabilities 235,452 274,470
Long-term portion of equipment leases 1,988 63
Deferred revenue, long-term 5,014 6,344
Liability for stock options exercised early, long-term 6,341 7,206
Deferred income taxes 18,510 �  
Other long-term liabilities 1,512 11,412

Commitments and contingencies
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Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant 13,871 �  

Stockholders� equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, issuable in series: 164,782 and 100,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2003 and September 30, 2004, 71,662 and no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003
and September 30, 2004 44,346 �  
Class A and Class B common stock, $0.001 par value: 700,000 and 9,000,000 shares authorized at December 31,
2003 and September 30, 2004, 160,866 and 273,228 shares issued and outstanding, excluding 11,987 and 8,772
shares subject to repurchase at December 31, 2003 and September 30, 2004 161 273
Additional paid-in capital 725,219 2,497,299
Note receivable from officer/stockholder (4,300) �  
Deferred stock-based compensation (369,668) (292,690)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,660 (2,230)
Retained earnings 191,352 386,371

Total stockholders� equity 588,770 2,589,023

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant and stockholders� equity $ 871,458 $ 2,888,518

See accompanying notes.
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Google Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004

(unaudited)
Revenues $ 393,942 $ 805,887 $ 953,759 $ 2,157,722
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 170,390 362,099 374,986 1,003,874
Research and development 32,774 57,409 62,771 138,190
Sales and marketing 36,575 65,512 79,164 170,193
General and administrative 13,853 40,774 36,415 87,857
Stock-based compensation(1) 73,794 67,981 144,377 219,215
Non-recurring portion of settlement of disputes with Yahoo �  201,000 �  201,000

Total costs and expenses 327,386 794,775 697,713 1,820,329

Income from operations 66,556 11,112 256,046 337,393
Interest income and other, net 464 3,866 1,183 2,668

Income before income taxes 67,020 14,978 257,229 340,061
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 46,594 (37,005) 178,835 145,042

Net income $ 20,426 $ 51,983 $ 78,394 $ 195,019

Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.25 $ 0.58 $ 1.14

Diluted $ 0.08 $ 0.19 $ 0.31 $ 0.73

Number of shares used in per share calculations:
Basic 141,412 205,007 134,820 170,511

Diluted 257,948 274,735 254,664 268,394

(1)    Stock-based compensation is allocated as follows (see Note 1):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004
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(unaudited)
Cost of revenues $ 3,008 $ 1,996 $ 5,821 $ 9,618
Research and development 43,878 42,120 82,115 134,222
Sales and marketing 15,819 11,580 30,530 39,156
General and administrative 11,089 12,285 25,911 36,219

$ 73,794 $ 67,981 $ 144,377 $ 219,215

See accompanying notes.
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Google Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2003 2004

(unaudited)
Operating activities
Net income $ 78,394 $ 195,019
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 28,203 85,620
Amortization of intangibles and warrants 8,975 10,393
In-process research and development 11,618 950
Stock-based compensation 144,377 219,215
Tax benefits from exercise of warrants �  144,971
Non-recurring portion of settlement of disputes with Yahoo �  201,000
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (54,574) (78,361)
Income taxes, net 8,120 (182,415)
Prepaid revenue share, expenses and other assets (29,156) (54,134)
Accounts payable 35,175 3,369
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 15,545 42,148
Accrued revenue share 57,991 13,301
Deferred revenue 4,234 7,871

Net cash provided by operating activities 308,902 608,947

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (120,310) (259,915)
Purchases of short-term investments (105,229) (2,877,309)
Maturities and sales of short-term investments 130,149 1,548,334
Purchases of other investments �  (4,999)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (39,958) (10,833)

Net cash used in investing activities (135,348) (1,604,722)

Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net 10,649 10,159
Proceeds from exercise of warrants �  21,944
Net proceeds from initial public offering �  1,161,446
Payment of note receivable from officer/stockholder �  4,300
Payments of principal on capital leases and equipment loans (6,435) (3,521)

Net cash provided by financing activities 4,214 1,194,328
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Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (104) (3,079)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 177,664 195,474
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 57,752 148,995

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 235,416 $ 344,469

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 1,300 $ 611

Cash paid for taxes $ 170,812 $ 181,967

Acquisition related activities:
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisitions, net of deferred stock-based compensation $ 64,243 $ 7,112

See accompanying notes.
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unaudited)

Note 1. The Company and Summary of Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Google Inc. (�Google� or the �Company�) was incorporated in California in September 1998. The Company re-incorporated in the State of Delaware
in August 2003. The Company offers highly targeted advertising solutions, global Internet search solutions through its own destination Internet
site and intranet solutions via an enterprise search appliance.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Google and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004, the consolidated statements of income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004 are
unaudited. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. In the opinion of the Company�s management, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments of a
normal recurring nature necessary for the fair presentation of the Company�s financial position at September 30, 2004, its results of operations for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004, and its cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004. The
results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the
year ending December 31, 2004.

These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 29, 2004, as amended.

Use of Estimates
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The preparation of interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. On an on-going basis, the
Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to accounts receivable allowances, fair values of investments, fair values of acquired
intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment and income taxes among others. While the Company
bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that management believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

6

Edgar Filing: Google Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 11



Table of Contents

Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

Revenue Recognition

The following table presents the Company�s revenues (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004

(unaudited)
Advertising revenues:
Google web sites $ 207,239 $ 411,671 $ 548,240 $ 1,058,645
Google Network web sites 174,444 384,285 373,246 1,064,263

Total advertising revenues 381,683 795,956 921,486 2,122,908
Licensing and other revenues 12,259 9,931 32,273 34,814

Revenues $ 393,942 $ 805,887 $ 953,759 $ 2,157,722

In the first quarter of 2000, the Company introduced its first advertising program through which it offered advertisers the ability to place
text-based ads on Google web sites targeted to users� search queries. Advertisers paid the Company based on the number of times their ads were
displayed on users� search results pages, and the Company recognized revenue at the time these ads appeared. In the fourth quarter of 2000, the
Company launched Google AdWords, an online self-service program that enables advertisers to place text-based ads on Google web sites.
AdWords advertisers originally paid the Company based on the number of times their ads appeared on users� search results pages. In the first
quarter of 2002, the Company began offering AdWords exclusively on a cost-per-click basis, so that an advertiser pays the Company only when
a user clicks on one of its ads. The Company recognizes as revenue the fees charged advertisers each time a user clicks on one of the text-based
ads that are displayed next to the search results on Google web sites. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company now offers a single pricing
structure to all of its advertisers based on the AdWords cost-per-click model.

Google AdSense is the program through which the Company distributes its advertisers� text-based ads for display on the web sites of the Google
Network members. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net
as an Agent, the Company recognizes as revenues the fees it receives from its advertisers. This revenue is reported gross primarily because the
Company is the primary obligor to its advertisers.
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The Company generates fees from search services through a variety of contractual arrangements, which include per-query search fees and search
service hosting fees. Revenues from set-up and support fees and search service hosting fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the contract, which is the expected period during which these services will be provided. The Company�s policy is to recognize revenues from
per-query search fees in the period queries are made and results are delivered.

The Company provides search services pursuant to certain AdSense agreements. Management believes that search services and revenue share
arrangements represent separate units of accounting pursuant to EITF 00-21 Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. These separate
services are provided simultaneously to the Google Network member and are recognized as revenues in the periods provided.

The Company also generates fees from the sale and license of its Search Appliance, which includes hardware, software and generally 12 to 24
months of post-contract support. As the elements are not sold separately, sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for the
allocation of revenue. As a result,

7
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

the entire fee is recognized ratably over the term of the post-contract support arrangement in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended.

Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of the Company�s performance in the underlying agreement on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of traffic acquisition costs. Traffic acquisition costs consist of amounts owed to Google Network members.
These amounts owed are primarily based on revenue share arrangements under which the Company pays its Google Network members most of
the fees it receives from its advertisers. In addition, certain AdSense agreements obligate the Company to make guaranteed minimum revenue
share payments to Google Network members based on their achieving defined performance terms, such as number of search queries or
advertisements displayed. The Company amortizes guaranteed minimum revenue share prepayments (or accretes an amount payable to its
Google Network members if the payment is due in arrears) based on the number of search queries or advertisements displayed on the Google
Network member�s web site. In addition, concurrent with the commencement of certain AdSense agreements, the Company purchased certain
items from, or provided other consideration to, its Google Network members. These amounts are amortized on a ratable basis over the related
term of the agreement.

Traffic acquisition costs were $143.5 million and $302.9 million in the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004, and $310.2 million
and $851.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004.

In addition, cost of revenues consists of the expenses associated with the operation of the Company�s data centers, including depreciation, labor,
energy and bandwidth costs. Cost of revenues also includes credit card and other transaction fees relating to processing customer transactions as
well as expenses related to the amortization of purchased and licensed technologies.

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation as shown on the accompanying consolidated income statements consists of amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation related to restricted shares and options to purchase Class A and Class B common stock to employees and the values of options to
purchase such stock issued to non-employees.
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As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation (�SFAS 123�), the
Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (�APB�) No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees (�APB 25�), and related interpretations. Under APB 25, deferred compensation for options granted to employees is
equal to its intrinsic value, determined as the difference between the exercise price and the reassessed value for accounting purposes of the
underlying stock on the date of grant.

Prior to the initial public offering, the Company typically granted stock options at exercise prices equal to or less than the value of the
underlying stock as determined by our board of directors on the date of option grant. For purposes of financial accounting, the Company has
applied hindsight to arrive at reassessed values for the shares underlying these options. The Company has recorded deferred stock-based
compensation equal to the difference between these reassessed values and the exercise prices. After the initial public offering, options have been
granted at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of option grant.

8
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

In connection with restricted shares and unvested stock options granted to employees, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation
costs of $280.5 million and $4.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004, and $456.9 million and $138.7 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004.

Net amortization of deferred stock-based compensation related to stock options granted to employees totaled $69.6 million and $63.0 million in
the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004 and $134.6 million and $208.8 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and
2004. The deferred stock-based compensation is being amortized using the accelerated vesting method, in accordance with SFAS 123,
EITF 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in connection with Selling, Goods or
Services (�EITF 96-18�), and Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Interpretation (�FIN�) No. 28, over the vesting period of each
respective restricted share and stock option, generally over four or five years. The remaining unamortized, deferred stock-based compensation
for all restricted shares and stock option grants through September 30, 2004 assuming no change in the stock option accounting rules and
assuming all employees remain employed at Google for their remaining vesting periods will be expensed as follows over the remaining three
months of 2004 and each of the next four years and thereafter (in millions):

(unaudited)
2004 $ 54.6
2005 139.2
2006 67.5
2007 24.4
2008 5.3
Thereafter 1.7

$ 292.7

The Company accounts for stock awards issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123 and EITF 96-18. Under SFAS
123 and EITF 96-18, the Company uses the Black-Scholes method to measure the value of options granted to non-employees at each vesting
date to determine the appropriate charge to stock-based compensation.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense for the value of stock options earned by non-employees of $4.2 million and $5.0
million in the three months ended September 30, 2003, 2004 and $9.8 million and $10.4 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2003,
2004. No options that vest over time were granted to non-employees in the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

Pro forma information regarding net income has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the
method prescribed by SFAS 123. The resulting effect on pro forma net income disclosed may not be representative of the effects on net income
on a pro forma basis in future years.
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

Had compensation cost for options granted under the option plans been determined based on the fair value method prescribed by SFAS 123, the
Company�s net income and net income per share would have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts below (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004

(unaudited)
Net income, as reported $ 20,426 $ 51,983 $ 78,394 $ 195,019
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net
income 69,617 62,957 134,606 208,760
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense under the fair value
based method for all awards (70,372) (69,935) (136,081) (218,534)

Net income, pro forma $ 19,671 $ 45,005 $ 76,919 $ 185,245

Net income per share:
As reported�basic $ 0.14 $ 0.25 $ 0.58 $ 1.14
Pro forma�basic $ 0.14 $ 0.22 $ 0.57 $ 1.09
As reported�diluted $ 0.08 $ 0.19 $ 0.31 $ 0.73
Pro forma�diluted $ 0.08 $ 0.16 $ 0.30 $ 0.69

For purposes of the above pro forma calculation, the value of each option granted through September 30, 2004 was estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

   2003      2004      2003      2004   

(unaudited)
Risk-free interest rate 2.29% 3.03% 2.01% 2.68%
Expected volatility 75% 75% 75% 75%
Expected life (in years) 3 3 3 3
Dividend yield �  �  �  �  

Edgar Filing: Google Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 18



The weighted-average fair value of an option granted in the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004 was $47.98 and $48.31 and in the
nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004 was $26.43 and $63.07, using the Black-Scholes pricing model.

On March 31, 2004, the FASB issued an Exposure Draft, �Share-Based Payment�An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95� (proposed
SFAS 123R), which currently is expected to be effective for public companies in periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company would be
required to implement the proposed standard no later than the quarter that begins July 1, 2005. The cumulative effect of adoption, if any, applied
on a modified prospective basis, would be measured and recognized on July 1, 2005. The proposed SFAS 123R addresses the accounting for
transactions in which an enterprise receives employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the enterprise or (b) liabilities that are
based on the fair value of the enterprise�s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. The proposed
SFAS 123R would eliminate the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB 25, and generally would require instead
that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value based method. As proposed, companies would be required to recognize an expense for
compensation cost related to share-based payment arrangements

10
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

including stock options and employee stock purchase plans. The FASB expects to issue a final standard by December 31, 2004. Management is
currently evaluating option valuation methodologies and assumptions in light of the proposed FAS 123R related to employee stock options.
Current estimates of option values using the Black-Scholes method (as shown above) may not be indicative of results from valuation
methodologies ultimately adopted in the final rules.

Stock Options Exercised Early

The Company typically allows employees to exercise options prior to vesting. Upon the exercise of an option prior to vesting, the exercising
optionee is required to enter into a restricted stock purchase agreement with the Company, which provides that the Company has a right to
repurchase the shares purchased upon exercise of the option at the original exercise price; provided, however, that its right to repurchase these
shares will lapse in accordance with the vesting schedule included in the optionee�s option agreement. In accordance with EITF 00-23, Issues
Related to Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44, stock options granted or modified
after March 21, 2002, which are subsequently exercised for cash prior to vesting are treated differently from prior grants and related exercises.
The consideration received for an exercise of an option granted after the effective date of this guidance is considered to be a deposit of the
exercise price and the related dollar amount is recorded as a liability. The shares and liability are only reclassified into equity on a ratable basis
as the award vests. The Company has applied this guidance and recorded a liability on the consolidated balance sheets relating to 11,987,482 and
8,771,918 of options granted subsequent to March 21, 2002 that were exercised and are unvested at December 31, 2003 and at September 30,
2004.

Class A and Class B Common Stock

The Company�s certificate of incorporation previously provided that upon an initial public offering meeting certain criteria, the Company�s Class
A Senior common stock, which had ten votes per share, would automatically convert into common stock, which had one vote per share. In April
2004, the Company�s Board of Directors authorized, and on June 25, 2004 its stockholders approved, certain amendments to the Company�s
certificate of incorporation. Pursuant to these amendments, each share of Class A Senior common stock was reclassified as one share of Class B
common stock and each share of common stock was reclassified as one share of Class A common stock. In addition, these amendments changed
the conversion rights of the Class A Senior common stock (now Class B common stock) to provide that these shares would no longer
automatically convert into shares of common stock (now Class A common stock) upon the Company�s initial public offering. Also, shares of
Class B common stock may be converted at any time at the option of the stockholder into Class A common stock and automatically convert
upon any sale or transfer (subject to certain exceptions set forth in the amended certificate of incorporation). These amendments have been
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as if they had been made at the inception of the Company.

Net Income Per Share
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The Company computes net income per share in accordance with SFAS 128, Earnings per Share. Under the provisions of SFAS 128, basic net
income per share is computed using the weighted average number of Class A and Class B common shares outstanding during the period except
that it does not include unvested Class A and Class B common shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net income per share is computed using the
weighted average number of Class A and Class B common shares and, if dilutive, potential Class A and Class B common shares outstanding
during the period. Potential Class A and Class B common shares consist of the incremental Class A and Class B common shares issuable upon
the exercise of stock options, warrants, unvested common shares subject to repurchase or cancellation and convertible preferred stock. The
dilutive effect of outstanding
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

stock options and warrants is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. Convertible preferred stock is
reflected on an if-converted basis.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004

(unaudited)
Basic and diluted net income per share:
Numerator:
Net income $ 20,426 $ 51,983 $ 78,394 $ 195,019

Denominator:
Weighted average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding 171,316 220,988 166,669 189,874
Less: Weighted average unvested Class A and Class B common shares subject
to repurchase or cancellation (29,904) (15,981) (31,849) (19,363)

Denominator for basic calculation 141,412 205,007 134,820 170,511
Effect of dilutive securities
Add:
Weighted average convertible preferred shares 71,662 42,129 70,950 63,445
Weighted average stock options and warrants and unvested Class A and Class B
common shares subject to repurchase or cancellation 44,869 27,599 48,894 34,438

Denominator for diluted calculation 257,943 274,735 254,664 268,394

Net income per share, basic $ 0.14 $ 0.25 $ 0.58 $ 1.14

Net income per share, diluted $ 0.08 $ 0.19 $ 0.31 $ 0.73

Derivative Financial Instruments
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The Company hedges certain net asset and liability exposures with forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk that cash flows and
earnings will be adversely affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. This program is not designed for trading or speculative
purposes. No foreign currency hedge transactions were entered into prior to May, 2004.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, the Company recognizes derivative
instruments and hedging activities as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value. Neither the cost nor the fair value of these
forward foreign exchange contracts was material at September 30, 2004. Changes in the fair values of these contracts are recorded as interest
income (expense) and other, net and were not material in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004. The notional principal of
forward foreign exchange contracts to purchase U.S. dollars with Euros was $173.3 million at September 30, 2004. There were no other forward
foreign exchange contracts outstanding at September 30, 2004.

12

Edgar Filing: Google Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 23



Table of Contents

Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

Note 2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

As of

December 31,

2003

As of
September 30,

2004

(unaudited)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 148,995 $ 344,469

Short-term investments:
Municipal securities 166,538 1,285,721
Market auction preferred securities(1) 8,000 �  
U.S. government notes 11,185 110,019
U.S. corporate securities �  118,147

Total short-term investments 185,723 1,513,887

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 334,718 $ 1,858,356

(1) Market auction preferred securities are securities with perpetual maturities that are structured with short-term reset dates of generally less
than 90 days. At the end of the reset period, investors can sell or continue to hold the securities at par.

The Company has not experienced any significant realized gains or losses on its investments in the periods presented. Gross unrealized gains and
losses at December 31, 2003 and at September 30, 2004 were not material.

Note 3. Contingencies

Legal Matters
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Certain companies have filed trademark infringement and related claims against the Company over the display of ads in response to user queries
that include trademarked terms. The outcomes of these lawsuits have differed from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. A court in France has held the
Company liable for allowing advertisers to select certain trademarked terms as keywords. The Company has appealed this decision. The
Company is also subject to two lawsuits in Germany on similar matters where the courts held that the Company is not liable for the actions of
the Company�s advertisers prior to notification of trademark rights. One of the plaintiffs has appealed the court�s ruling. The Company is litigating
similar issues in other cases in the U.S., France, Germany and Italy. Management believes that any adverse results in these lawsuits may result
in, or even compel, a change in this practice, which could result in a loss of revenues on a prospective basis. However, the magnitude of any
unfavorable outcome cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Currently, there is no material litigation pending against the Company other than as described above. From time to time, the Company may
become a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of the Company�s business. Although the results of such
litigation and claims in the ordinary course of business cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the final outcome of such
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company�s business, results of operations or financial condition. Regardless of outcome,
litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

Rescission Offer

Shares issued and options granted under the Company�s 1998 Stock Plan, 2003 Stock Plan, 2003 Stock Plan (No. 2) and 2003 Stock Plan (No. 3)
may not have been exempt from registration or qualification under federal securities laws and the securities laws of certain states. As a result, the
Company intends to make a rescission offer to the holders of these shares and options. If this rescission is accepted, the Company could be
required to make aggregate payments to the holders of these shares and options of up to $28.3 million, which includes statutory interest, based
on shares and options outstanding as of October 31, 2004. In addition, if it is determined that the Company offered securities without properly
registering them under federal law or state law, or securing an exemption from registration, federal or state regulators could impose fines or
other sanctions as provided under these laws. Federal securities laws do not provide that a rescission offer will terminate a purchaser�s right to
rescind a sale of stock that was not registered as required. If any or all of the offerees reject the rescission offer, the Company may continue to be
liable for this amount under federal and state securities laws. As management believes there is only a remote possibility the rescission offer will
be accepted by any of the Company�s option holders and stockholders in an amount that would result in a material expenditure by the Company,
no liability has been recorded. Management does not believe that this rescission offer will have a material effect on the Company�s results of
operations, cash flows or financial position.

Magazine Article

Information about the Company has been published in an article appearing in the September 2004 issue of Playboy Magazine and entitled
�Playboy Interview: Google Guys.� This article includes quotations from Larry and Sergey, and has been reprinted by a number of news media
outlets. The Company does not believe that its involvement in the Playboy Magazine article constitutes a violation of Section 5 of the Securities
Act of 1933. However, if the Company�s involvement were held by a court to be in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Company could be
required to repurchase the shares sold to purchasers in its initial public offering at the original purchase price, plus statutory interest from the
date of purchase, for a period of one year following the date of the violation. The Company would contest vigorously any claim that a violation
of the Securities Act occurred. Management currently believes there is only a remote possibility that the ultimate outcome with respect to any
such claim that might be made would materially adversely affect the operating results, financial position or liquidity of the Company. The SEC
has also requested additional information concerning the publication of the article.

Note 4. Settlement of Disputes with Yahoo

On August 9, 2004, the Company and Yahoo entered into a settlement agreement resolving two disputes that had been pending between them.
The first dispute concerned a lawsuit filed by Yahoo�s wholly-owned subsidiary, Overture Services, Inc., against the Company in April 2002
asserting that certain services infringed Overture�s U.S. Patent No. 6,269,361. In its court filings, the Company denied that it infringed the patent
and alleged that the patent was invalid and unenforceable.
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The second dispute concerned a warrant held by Yahoo to purchase 3,719,056 shares of the Company�s stock in connection with a June 2000
services agreement. Pursuant to a conversion provision in the warrant, the Company in June 2003 issued 1,229,944 shares to Yahoo. Yahoo
contended it was entitled to a greater number of shares, while the Company contended that it had fully complied with the terms of the warrant.

As part of the settlement, Overture dismissed its patent lawsuit against the Company and has granted the Company a fully-paid, perpetual license
to the patent that was the subject of the lawsuit and several related patent
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Google Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

applications held by Overture. The parties also mutually released any claims against each other concerning the warrant dispute. In connection
with the settlement of these two disputes, the Company issued to Yahoo 2,700,000 shares of Class A common stock. The Company used the
$85.00 per share price of the initial public offering to arrive at total settlement consideration of $229.5 million.

The Company engaged a third party valuation consultant to assist management in the allocation of the value of the settlement consideration and
the determination of the useful lives of the capitalized assets. The following table provides management�s allocation of the settlement
consideration of $229.5 million:

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Non-recurring portion of settlement of disputes with Yahoo $ 201,000
Intangible assets 28,500

Total consideration $ 229,500

In the three months ended September 30, 2004, the Company recognized the $201.0 million non-recurring charge related to the settlement of the
warrant dispute and other items. The non-cash charge associated with these shares is required because the shares are being issued after the
warrant was converted. The Company realized a related income tax benefit in the third quarter of $82.0 million. The Company also capitalized
$28.5 million related to certain intangible assets obtained in this settlement. These assets are being amortized on a ratable basis over
approximately one and four years to general and administrative expenses and cost of revenues. The weighted average amortization period for
these intangible assets is approximately three years.

Note 5. Initial Public Offering and 2004 Stock Plan

In April 2004, the Company�s board of directors approved the filing of a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission for
an initial public offering of the Company�s Class A common stock. The Company received approximately $1,161.4 million in net proceeds from
the closing of this offering in August 2004. In April 2004, the Company�s board of directors adopted, and on June 25, 2004 its stockholders
approved, the 2004 Stock Plan. The 2004 Stock Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to the Company�s employees and
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, performance units, performance shares, restricted stock units and other
stock based awards to the Company�s employees, directors, and consultants.

Note 6. Information about Geographic Areas
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The Company�s chief operating decision-makers (i.e., chief executive officer and his direct reports) review financial information presented on a
consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance. There are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels
or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, the Company considers itself to be in a single reporting segment and operating
unit structure.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(unaudited)

Revenues by geography are based on the billing address of the advertiser. The following table sets forth revenues and long-lived assets by
geographic area (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2004 2003 2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenues:
United States $ 276,640 $ 524,528 $ 681,118 $ 1,453,449
International 117,302 281,359 272,641 704,273

Total revenues $ 393,942 $ 805,887 $ 953,759 $ 2,157,722

As of December 31,
2003

As of September 30,
2004

(unaudited)
Long-lived assets:
United States $ 267,348 $ 467,086
International 43,876 61,221

Total long-lived assets $ 311,224 $ 528,307
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In addition to historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements include, among other things, statements concerning our
expectations:

� that we will continue to pay most of the Google AdSense fees we receive from advertisers to our Google Network members

� that stock-based compensation charges will decrease as a percentage of revenues

� regarding the growth of our operations, business and revenues and the growth rate of our costs and expenses

� concerning the relative rate of growth in advertising revenues from our web sites as compared to our Google Network members� web
sites

� that our cost of revenues will increase in 2004 as a result of anticipated increases in traffic acquisition and data center costs

� that research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses will increase in 2004 and in the future

� that our expansion into international markets and that international revenues will grow as a percentage of our total revenues in the
future

� regarding spending on capital equipment, including costs related to information technology infrastructure expansion

� regarding our income tax rates and tax liabilities

� regarding the sufficiency of our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash generated from operations

as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects and business strategies. These forward-looking
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those reflected in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this
report, and in particular, the risks discussed below and under the heading �Risk Factors� in other documents we file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on August
18, 2004, and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any
revision to these forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our condensed
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report.
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Overview

We are a global technology leader focused on improving the ways people connect with information. Our innovations in web search and
advertising have made our web site a top Internet destination and our brand one of the most recognized in the world. Our mission is to organize
the world�s information and make it universally accessible and useful. We serve three primary constituencies:

� Users. We provide users with products and services that enable people to more quickly and easily find, create and organize
information that is useful to them.
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� Advertisers. We provide advertisers our Google AdWords program, an auction-based advertising program that enables them to deliver
relevant ads targeted to search results or web content. Our AdWords program provides advertisers with a cost-effective way to deliver
ads to customers across Google sites and through the Google Network under our AdSense program.

� Web sites. We provide members of our Google Network our Google AdSense program, which allows these members to deliver
AdWords ads that are relevant to the search results or content on their web sites. We share most of the fees these ads generate with our
Google Network members�creating an important revenue stream for them.

We were incorporated in California in September 1998 and reincorporated in Delaware in August 2003. We began licensing our WebSearch
product in the first quarter of 1999. We became profitable in 2001 following the launch of our Google AdWords program.

How We Generate Revenue

We derive most of our revenues from fees we receive from our advertisers.

Our original business model consisted of licensing our search engine services to other web sites. In the first quarter of 2000, we introduced our
first advertising program. Through our direct sales force we offered advertisers the ability to place text-based ads on our web sites targeted to our
users� search queries under a program called Premium Sponsorships. Advertisers paid us based on the number of times their ads were displayed
on users� search results pages, and we recognized revenue at the time these ads appeared. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we launched Google
AdWords, an online self-service program that enables advertisers to place targeted text-based ads on our web sites. AdWords customers
originally paid us based on the number of times their ads appeared on users� search results pages. In the first quarter of 2002, we began offering
AdWords exclusively on a cost-per-click basis, which means that an advertiser pays us only when a user clicks on one of its ads. AdWords is
also available through our direct sales force. Our AdWords agreements are generally terminable at any time by our advertisers. We recognize as
revenue the fees charged to advertisers each time a user clicks on one of the text-based ads that appears next to the search results on our web
sites.

Effective January 1, 2004, we terminated the Premium Sponsorships program and now offer a single pricing structure to all of our advertisers
based on the AdWords cost-per-click model. This change to a single pricing structure did not have a negative effect on our revenues because
most of our advertisers switched to the AdWords cost-per-click model. Our AdWords cost-per-click program is the advertising program through
which we generate revenues by serving ads on our web sites and on Google Network member web sites through our AdSense program.

Google AdSense is the program through which we distribute our advertisers� AdWords ads for display on the web sites of our Google Network
members. Our AdSense program includes AdSense for search and AdSense for content. AdSense for search, launched in the first quarter of
2002, is our service for distributing relevant ads from our advertisers for display with search results on our Google Network members� sites.
AdSense for content, launched in the first quarter of 2003, is our service for distributing ads from our advertisers that are relevant to content on
our Google Network members� sites. Our advertisers pay us a fee each time a user clicks on one of our advertisers� ads displayed on Google
Network members� web sites. In the past, we have paid most of these advertiser fees to the members of the Google Network, and we expect to
continue doing so for the foreseeable future. We recognize these advertiser fees as revenue and the portion of the advertiser fee we pay to our
Google Network members as cost of revenue. In some cases, we guarantee our Google Network members minimum revenue share payments.
Members of the Google Network do not pay any fees associated with the use of our AdSense program on their web sites. Some of our Google
Network members separately license our web search technology and pay related licensing fees to us. Our agreements with Google Network
members consist largely of uniform online �click-wrap� agreements that members enter into by interacting with our registration web sites.
Agreements with our larger members are individually negotiated. The standard agreements have no stated term
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and are terminable at will. The negotiated agreements vary in duration. Both the standard agreements and the negotiated agreements contain
provisions requiring us to share with the Google Network member a portion of the advertiser fees generated by users clicking on ads on the
Google Network member�s web site. The standard agreements have uniform revenue share terms. The negotiated agreements vary as to revenue
share terms and are heavily negotiated.

We believe the factors that influence the success of our advertising programs include the following:

� The relevance, objectivity and quality of our search results.

� The number and type of searches initiated at our web sites or our Google Network members� web sites.

� The advertisers� return on investment from advertising campaigns on our web sites or on the web sites of our Google Network
members compared to other forms of advertising.

� The number of advertisers.

� The total and per click advertising spending budgets of an advertiser.

� The monetization of (or generation of revenue from) traffic on our web sites and our Google Network members� web sites.

We believe that the monetization of traffic on our web sites and our Google Network members� web sites is affected by the following factors:

� The relevance and quality of advertisements displayed with search results on our web sites and on our Google Network members� web
sites, or with the content on our Google Network members� web sites.

� The number and prominence of ads displayed with each search results page on our web sites and on our Google Network members�
web sites, as well as with each content page on our Google Network members� web sites.

� The total number of advertisements displayed on our web sites and on our Google Network members� web sites.

� The rate at which people click on advertisements.

� Our minimum fee per click, which is currently $0.05.

Advertising revenues made up no less than 97% of our total revenues in each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2004.
We derive the balance of our revenues from the license of our web search technology, the license of our search solutions to enterprises and the
sale and license of other products and services.
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Trends in Our Business

Our business has grown rapidly since inception, and we expect that our business will continue to grow. This growth has been characterized by
substantially increased revenues. However, although our revenue growth rate increased in the third quarter of 2004 compared to the second
quarter of 2004, our revenue growth rate has generally declined, and we expect it will continue to do so as a result of increasing competition and
the inevitable decline in growth rates as our revenues increase to higher levels. Consequently, we believe that our revenue growth rate from the
second quarter to the third quarter of 2004 may not be sustainable into the fourth quarter of this year and in future periods. In addition, the main
focus of our advertising programs is to provide relevant and useful advertising to our users, reflecting our commitment to constantly improve
their overall web experience, and therefore steps we take to improve the relevance of the ads displayed on our web sites, such as removing ads
that generate low click-through rates, could negatively affect our near-term advertising revenues.

We expect that our operating margin will decline in 2004 compared to 2003 primarily as a result of a $201.0 million non-recurring charge taken
in the third quarter of 2004 related to the settlement of disputes with Yahoo.
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Our operating margin before this charge was slightly greater in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2003 primarily as a result of a decrease in stock-based compensation as a percentage of revenues. We also expect that our
operating margin before this charge will be slightly greater in 2004 compared to 2003 primarily because we expect that our stock-based
compensation charges will continue to decrease as a percentage of revenues, at least in the near term. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included at the beginning of this report for a presentation of certain of our expected future stock-based compensation
charges. Anticipated changes to the accounting rules for stock-based compensation, as well as any changes to our equity compensation model,
will affect the level of stock-based compensation we expect to recognize and, correspondingly, our operating margins in the future.

The increase in our operating margin before the charge related to the settlement of disputes with Yahoo in the nine months ended September 30,
2004 compared to the year ended December 31, 2003, which was primarily as a result of a decrease in stock-based compensation charges as a
percentage of revenues, was substantially offset by an increase in traffic acquisition costs as a percentage of revenues. This is because a greater
portion of our revenues in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 compared to the year ended December 31, 2003 was from our Google
Network members� web sites rather than from our Google web sites. The operating margin we realize on revenues generated from the web sites
of our Google Network members through our AdSense program is significantly lower than that generated from paid clicks on our web sites. This
lower operating margin arises because most of the advertiser fees from our AdSense agreements are shared with our Google Network members,
leaving only a portion of these fees for us. The growth in advertising revenues from our Google Network members� web sites has until recently
exceeded that from our web sites. This has resulted in an increased portion of our revenue being derived from our Google Network members�
web sites and has had a negative impact on operating margins. The relative rate of growth in revenues from our web sites compared to the rate of
growth in revenues from our Google Network members� web sites may vary over time. For example, in the second and third quarters of 2004,
growth in advertising revenues from our web sites exceeded that from our Google Network members� web sites and we expect that it will
continue to do so in the foreseeable future.

Our operating margin may experience downward pressure in the future as we build the necessary employee and systems infrastructures required
to manage our anticipated growth and we expect that the growth rate of our costs and expenses, other than stock-based compensation and the
non-recurring charge related to the settlement of disputes with Yahoo, may exceed the growth rate of our revenues during 2004 and beyond. We
have experienced and expect to continue to experience substantial growth in our operations as we seek to expand our user, advertiser and Google
Network members bases and continue to expand our presence in international markets. This growth has required the continued expansion of our
human resources and substantial investments in property and equipment. Our full-time employee headcount has grown from 1,628 at December
31, 2003 to 2,668 at September 30, 2004. In addition, we have employed a significant number of temporary employees in the past and expect to
continue to do so in the foreseeable future. Our capital expenditures have grown from $120.3 million in the nine months ended September 30,
2003 to $259.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2004. We expect to spend over $300 million on capital equipment, including
information technology infrastructure, to manage our operations during 2004. Management of this growth will continue to require the devotion
of significant employee and other resources and we may not be able to manage this growth effectively.

The portion of our revenues derived from international markets has increased. Our international revenues have grown as a percentage of our total
revenues from 30% in the three months ended September 30, 2003 to 35% in the three months ended September 30, 2004, and have grown from
29% in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 to 33% in the nine months ended September 30, 2004. This increase in the portion of our
revenues derived from international markets results largely from increased acceptance of our advertising programs in international markets, an
increase in our direct sales resources and customer support operations in international markets and our continued progress in developing versions
of our products tailored for these markets.
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Results of Operations

The following is a more detailed discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the periods presented.

The following table presents our historical operating results as a percentage of revenues for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

September 30,
2003

June 30,
2004

September 30,
2004     2003        2004    

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 43.3 46.6 44.9 39.3 46.5
Research and development 8.3 6.5 7.1 6.6 6.4
Sales and marketing 9.3 8.1 8.1 8.3 7.9
General and administrative 3.5 3.7 5.1 3.8 4.1
Stock-based compensation 18.7 10.7 8.5 15.1 10.2
Non-recurring portion of settlement of disputes
with Yahoo �  �  24.9 �  9.3

Total costs and expenses 83.1 75.6 98.6 73.1 84.4

Income from operations 16.9 24.4 1.4 26.9 15.6
Interest income (expense) and other, net 0.1 (0.2) 0.5 0.1 0.1

Income before income taxes 17.0 24.2 1.9 27.0 15.7
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 11.8 12.9 (4.6) 18.8 6.7

Net income 5.2% 11.3% 6.5% 8.2% 9.0%

Revenues

The following table presents our revenues, by revenue source, for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2003 2004
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September 30,
2003

June 30,
2004

September 30,
2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)

Advertising revenues:
Google web sites $ 207,239 $ 343,442 $ 411,671 $ 548,240 $ 1,058,645
Google Network web sites 174,444 346,226 384,285 373,246 1,064,263

Total advertising revenues 381,683 689,668 795,956 921,486 2,122,908
Licensing and other revenues 12,259 10,544 9,931 32,273 34,814

Revenues $ 393,942 $ 700,212 $ 805,887 $ 953,759 $ 2,157,722
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The following table presents our revenues, by revenue source, as a percentage of total revenues for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

September 30,
2003

June 30,
2004

September 30,
2004 2003 2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Advertising revenues:
Google web sites 53% 49% 51% 58% 49%
Google Network web sites 44 49 48 39 49

Total advertising revenues 97 98 99 97 98
Google web sites as % of advertising revenues 54 50 52 60 50
Google Network web sites as % of advertising revenues 46 50 48 40 50
Licensing and other revenues 3% 2% 1% 3% 2%

Growth in our revenues from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004
resulted primarily from growth in advertising revenues from ads on our Google Network members� web sites and growth in revenues from ads on
our web sites. This increase resulted primarily from increases in the number of paid clicks rather than from changes in the fees charged. The
increase in the number of paid clicks was due to an increase in the number of Google Network members and aggregate traffic at their web sites
and on our web sites and improvements in our ability to monetize this increased traffic on our web sites. Revenue growth was driven to a lesser
extent by growth in our AdSense for content business, which was introduced in the first quarter of 2003.

Growth in our revenues from the three months ended June 30, 2004 to the three months ended September 30, 2004 resulted primarily from
growth in advertising revenues from ads on our web sites and growth in revenues from ads on our Google Network members� web sites. The
advertising revenue growth resulted primarily from increases in the total number of paid clicks rather than from changes in the fees charged. Our
revenues grew by 7.5% from the three month period ended March 31, 2004 to the three month period ended June 30, 2004, but grew by 15.1%
from the three month period ended June 30, 2004 to the three month period ended September 30, 2004. The reasons for the increases in the
sequential quarter revenue growth rates are described in the following paragraphs.

Growth in advertising revenues from our Google Network members� web sites from the three months ended June 30, 2004 to the three months
ended September 30, 2004 was $38.1 million or 11.0%, compared to $12.5 million or 3.7% from the three months ended March 31, 2004 to the
three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in the growth rate is attributable to growth in the number of page views and search queries, and
ultimately paid clicks. The growth in the number of page views and ultimately paid clicks is primarily attributable to more aggregate
advertisements displayed on the content pages of Google Network members� web sites under AdSense for content agreements. This is a result of
our entering into more of these agreements over the second and third quarters compared to the first and second quarters of this year.
Nevertheless, these growth rates are much less than the 30.7% growth rate we realized in the three months ended March 31, 2004 compared to
the three months ended December 31, 2003 as a result of slower growth in the number of paid clicks on our Google Network member web sites
due primarily to our entering into no new significant AdSense for search agreements in the six months ended September 30, 2004 and as a result
of seasonality during the summer months. Although we entered into a significant new AdSense for search agreement in October 2004, the
growth in advertising revenues from our Google Network members� web sites is expected to be less than the growth in revenues from our web
sites for the foreseeable future.
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Growth in advertising revenues from our web sites from the three months ended June 30, 2004 to the three months ended September 30, 2004
was $68.3 million or 19.9% compared to $39.9 million or 13.2% from the
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three months ended March 31, 2004 to the three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in the growth rate for the third quarter of 2004 is
primarily attributable to growth in the number of paid clicks which may be a result of increased traffic due to publicity around our initial public
offering completed during this period and improvements in our ability to monetize this increased traffic.

We believe that the increase in the number of paid clicks was the result of the relevance and quality of both the search results and advertisements
displayed, which resulted in more searches, advertisers and Google Network members, and ultimately, more paid clicks. We expect our revenue
growth rates will generally decline in the future as a result of increasing competition and the inevitable decline in growth rates as our revenues
increase to higher levels. Furthermore, our revenue growth rate from the second to the third quarter of 2004 may not be sustainable into the
fourth quarter of this year and beyond.

Revenues by Geography

Domestic and international revenues as a percentage of consolidated revenues, determined based on the billing addresses of our advertisers, are
set forth below.

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

September 30,
2003

June 30,
2004

September 30,
2004 2003 2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
United States 70% 69% 65% 71% 67%
International 30% 31% 35% 29% 33%

The growth in international revenues is the result of our efforts to provide search results to international users and deliver more ads from
non-U.S. advertisers. We expect that international revenues will continue to grow as a percentage of our total revenues in the future. While
international revenues accounted for approximately 29% of our total revenues in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 33% in the nine
months ended September 30, 2004, more than half of our user traffic came from outside the U.S. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included at the beginning of this report for additional information about geographic areas.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues consists primarily of traffic acquisition costs. Traffic acquisition costs consist of amounts owed to our
Google Network members. These amounts owed are primarily based on revenue share arrangements under which we pay our Google Network
members most of the fees we receive from our advertisers whose ads we place on those Google Network member sites. In addition, certain
AdSense agreements obligate us to make guaranteed minimum revenue share payments to Google Network members based on their achieving
defined performance terms, such as number of search queries or advertisements displayed. We amortize guaranteed minimum revenue share
prepayments (or accrete an amount payable to our Google Network member if the payment is due in arrears) based on the number of search
queries or advertisements displayed on the Google Network member�s web site. In addition, concurrent with the commencement of certain
AdSense agreements we have purchased certain items from, or provided other consideration to, our Google Network members. These amounts
are amortized on a ratable basis over the related term of the agreement.
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The following table presents our traffic acquisition costs (in millions), traffic acquisition costs as a percentage of advertising revenues from
Google Network web sites and traffic acquisition costs as a percentage of advertising revenues, for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2003

June 30,
2004

September 30,
2004

September 30,
2003

September 30,
2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Traffic acquisition costs $ 143.5 $ 277.0 $ 302.9 $ 310.2 $ 851.0
Traffic acquisition costs as a percentage
of advertising revenues from Google
Network web sites 82% 80% 79% 83% 80%
Traffic acquisition costs as a percentage
of advertising revenues 38% 40% 38% 34% 40%

In addition, cost of revenues consists of the expenses associated with the operation of our data centers, including depreciation, labor, energy and
bandwidth costs. Cost of revenues also includes credit card and other transaction fees related to processing customer transactions, as well as
expenses related to amortization of purchased and licensed technologies.

Cost of revenues increased by $35.7 million to $362.1 million (or 44.9% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2004, from
$326.4 million (or 46.6% of revenues) in the three months ended June 30, 2004. This increase in dollars was primarily the result of additional
traffic acquisition costs and the depreciation of additional information technology assets purchased in the current and prior periods and
additional data center costs required to manage more Internet traffic, advertising transactions and new products and services. There was an
increase in traffic acquisition costs of $25.9 million and an increase in data center costs of $6.1 million primarily resulting from the depreciation
of additional information technology assets purchased in the current and prior periods.

Traffic acquisition costs decreased as a percentage of advertising revenues from Google Network web sites in the three months ended September
30, 2004 compared to the prior quarter because more of these revenues came from members with whom we generally have lower revenue share
obligations. Also, the aggregate dollar amount by which guaranteed revenue share and other payments to Google Network members exceeded
the fees we received from advertisers under certain AdSense agreements was less in the three months ended September 30, 2004 compared to
the three months ended June 30, 2004, which contributed to the decrease in traffic acquisition costs as a percentage of advertising revenues from
Google Network web sites. In addition, traffic acquisition costs decreased as a percentage of advertising revenues in the three months ended
September 30, 2004, primarily because of proportionately lower advertising revenues from ads on our Google Network members� web sites
compared to Google web sites and as a result of the reasons noted above.

Cost of revenues increased by $191.7 million to $362.1 million (or 44.9% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2004, from
$170.4 million (or 43.3% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2003. This increase was primarily the result of additional traffic
acquisition costs and the depreciation of additional information technology assets purchased in the current and prior periods and additional data
center costs required to manage more Internet traffic, advertising transactions and new products and services. There was an increase in traffic
acquisition costs of $159.4 million and an increase in data center costs of $22.9 million primarily resulting from the depreciation of additional
information technology assets purchased in the current and prior periods. In addition, there was an increase in credit card and other transaction
processing fees of $6.2 million resulting from more advertiser fees generated through AdWords. In addition, there was an increase in cost of
revenues of $1.3 million related to amortization of developed technology resulting from acquisitions in 2004.
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2003. This increase was primarily the result of additional traffic acquisition costs and the depreciation of additional information technology
assets purchased in the current and prior periods and additional data center costs required to manage more Internet traffic, advertising
transactions and new products and services. There was an increase in traffic acquisition costs of $540.8 million and in data center costs of $62.5
million primarily resulting from the depreciation of additional information technology assets purchased in the current and prior periods. In
addition, there was an increase in credit card and other transaction processing fees of $19.3 million resulting from more advertiser fees generated
through AdWords.

We expect cost of revenues to continue to increase in dollars and as a percentage of revenues in 2004 compared to 2003 primarily as a result of
forecasted increases in traffic acquisition costs, and in our data center costs required to manage increased traffic, advertising transactions and
new products and services. Although traffic acquisition costs decreased as a percentage of revenues in the third quarter of 2004 as compared to
the second quarter of 2004, we expect traffic acquisition costs to increase as a percentage of revenues in 2004 compared to 2003, primarily as a
result of forecasted proportionately greater advertising revenues from ads on our Google Network members� web sites compared to Google web
sites. Also, increasing competition for arrangements with web sites that are potential Google Network members could result in our entering into
more AdSense agreements under which guaranteed revenue share and other payments to Google Network members exceed the fees we receive
from advertisers.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel responsible
for the research and development of new products and services, as well as significant improvements to existing products and services. We
expense research and development costs as they are incurred.

Research and development expenses increased by $11.6 million to $57.4 million (or 7.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30,
2004, from $45.8 million (or 6.5% of revenues) in the three months ended June 30, 2004. This increase was primarily due to an increase in labor
and facilities related costs of $9.5 million as a result of a 23% increase in research and development headcount. In addition, depreciation and
related expenses increased by $2.2 million primarily as a result of additional information technology assets purchased over the six months ended
September 30, 2004.

Research and development expenses increased by $24.6 million to $57.4 million (or 7.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30,
2004, from $32.8 million (or 8.3% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2003. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an
increase in labor and facilities related costs of $26.5 million as a result of a 97% increase in research and development headcount. In addition,
depreciation and related expenses increased by $7.0 million primarily as a result of additional information technology assets purchased over the
fifteen-month period ended September 30, 2004. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $11.6 million in in-process research and
development expenses.

Research and development expenses increased by $75.4 million to $138.2 million (or 6.4% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30,
2004, from $62.8 million (or 6.6% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an
increase in labor and facilities related costs of $61.8 million as a result of a 97% increase in research and development headcount. In addition,
depreciation and related expenses increased by $19.4 million primarily as a result of additional information technology assets purchased over the
twenty one-month period ended September 30, 2004. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $10.6 million in in-process research
and development.

We anticipate that research and development expenses will continue to increase in dollar amount and may increase as a percentage of revenues
in 2004 and in the future because we expect to hire more research and development personnel and build the infrastructure required to support the
development of new, and improve existing, products and services.
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Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel engaged in customer
service and sales and sales support functions, as well as advertising and promotional expenditures.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $8.7 million to $65.5 million (or 8.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2004, from
$56.8 million (or 8.1% of revenues) in the three months ended June 30, 2004. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an increase in labor
and facilities related costs of $5.5 million mostly as a result of a 16% increase in sales and marketing headcount. In addition, advertising and
promotional expenses increased $1.1 million. The increase in sales and marketing personnel and advertising and promotional expenses was a
result of our on-going efforts to secure new, and to provide support to our existing users, advertisers and Google Network members, on a
worldwide basis.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $28.9 million to $65.5 million (or 8.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2004,
from $36.6 million (or 9.3% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2003. This increase was primarily due to an increase in labor
and facilities related costs of $22.0 million mostly as a result of an 88% increase in sales and marketing headcount. In addition, advertising and
promotional expenses increased $2.2 million.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $91.0 million to $170.2 million (or 7.9% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30, 2004,
from $79.2 million (or 8.3% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an
increase in labor and facilities related costs of $65.0 million mostly as a result of an 88% increase in sales and marketing headcount. In addition,
advertising and promotional expenses increased $13.1 million and travel-related expenses increased $2.6 million.

We anticipate sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase in dollar amount and may increase as a percentage of revenues in 2004 and
in the future as we continue to expand our business on a worldwide basis. A significant portion of these increases relate to our plan to add
support personnel to increase the level of service we provide to our advertisers and Google Network members.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel and facilities
related to our finance, human resources, facilities, information technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services.
Professional services are principally comprised of outside legal, audit and information technology consulting. To date, we have not experienced
any significant amount of bad debts.

General and administrative expenses increased $15.2 million to $40.8 million (or 5.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30,
2004, from $25.6 million (or 3.7% of revenues) in the three months ended June 30, 2004. This increase was primarily due to an increase in labor
and facilities related costs of $7.5 million, primarily as a result of a 9% increase in headcount, and an increase in professional services fees of
$3.9 million. The additional personnel and professional services fees are primarily the result of our on-going efforts to build the legal, finance,
human resources, recruiting and information technology functions required of a growing public company.

General and administrative expenses increased $26.9 million to $40.8 million (or 5.1% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30,
2004, from $13.9 million (or 3.5% of revenues) in the three months ended September 30, 2003. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an
increase in labor and facilities related costs of $13.0 million, primarily as a result of an 83% increase in headcount, and an increase in
professional services fees of $7.5 million.
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General and administrative expenses increased $51.7 million to $88.1 million (or 4.1% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30,
2004, from $36.4 million (or 3.8% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30, 2003. This increase in dollars was primarily due to an
increase in labor and facilities related costs of $25.8 million, primarily as a result of an 83% increase in headcount, and an increase in
professional services fees of $14.5 million.
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As we expand our business and incur additional expenses associated with being a growing public company, we believe general and
administrative expenses will continue to increase in dollar amount and may increase as a percentage of revenues in 2004 and in the future.

Stock-Based Compensation. Prior to the date of our initial public offering, we typically granted stock options at exercise prices equal to or less
than the value of the underlying stock as determined by our board of directors on the date of option grant. For purposes of financial accounting,
we have applied hindsight to arrive at reassessed values for the shares underlying these options. We recorded the difference between the exercise
price of an option awarded to an employee and the reassessed value of the underlying shares on the date of grant as deferred stock-based
compensation. The determination of the reassessed value of stock underlying options is discussed in detail below in �Critical Accounting Policies
and Estimates�Stock-Based Compensation.� We recognize compensation expense as we amortize the deferred stock-based compensation amounts
on an accelerated basis over the related vesting periods, generally four or five years. After the initial public offering, options have been granted
at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of option grant. In addition, we have awarded options to
non-employees to purchase our common stock. Stock-based compensation related to non-employees is measured on a fair-value basis using the
Black-Scholes valuation model as the options are earned.

Stock-based compensation in the three months ended September 30, 2004 decreased $6.8 million to $68.0 million (or 8.4% of revenues) from
$74.8 million (or 10.7% of revenues) in the three months ended June 30, 2004. Stock-based compensation in the three months ended September
30, 2004 decreased $5.8 million to $68.0 million (or 8.4% of revenues) from $73.8 million (or 18.7% of revenues) in the three months ended
September 30, 2003. These decreases were primarily due to a decrease in the level of stock option grants and smaller differences between the
exercise prices and the reassessed values of the underlying common stock on the dates of grant in the three months ended September 30, 2004,
as well as less amortization of deferred stock-based compensation amounts from prior periods recognized in the current period. In addition, after
the initial public offering, options were granted at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. As a
result, these options were granted with no intrinsic value and, accordingly, no related stock-based compensation will be recognized under the
current accounting rules.

Stock-based compensation in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 increased $74.8 million to $219.2 million (or 10.2% of revenues) from
$144.4 million (or 15.1% of revenues) in the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The increase in dollars was primarily driven by the larger
differences between the exercise prices and the reassessed values of the underlying common stock on the dates of grant, partially offset by a
decrease in the level of stock option grants, in recent periods. The increase was also driven by the recognition of $3.9 million of stock-based
compensation related to the modification of terms of former employees� stock option agreements in the nine-months ended September 30, 2004.
No such modifications were made in the nine-months ended September 30, 2003.

We expect stock-based compensation to be $54.6 million for the remaining three months of 2004, $139.2 million in 2005, $67.5 million in 2006,
$24.4 million in 2007, $5.3 million in 2008 and $1.7 million thereafter, related to the deferred stock-based compensation on the balance sheet at
September 30, 2004. These amounts do not include stock-based compensation related to options granted to non-employees and any options that
may be granted to employees and directors subsequent to September 30, 2004 at exercise prices less than the fair market value on the date of
grant and any additional compensation expense that may be required as a result of any changes in the stock option accounting rules or changes to
our equity compensation model. These amounts also assume the continued employment throughout the referenced periods of the recipient of the
options that gave rise to the deferred stock-based compensation.

At December 31, 2003, there were 500,150 unvested options held by non-employees with a weighted average exercise price of $0.69, a weighted
average 48-month remaining vesting period and a weighted average 4-year remaining expected life. No options that vest over time were granted
to non-employees in the nine months

27

Edgar Filing: Google Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 50



Table of Contents

ended September 30, 2004. These options generally vest on a monthly and ratable basis subsequent to December 31, 2003. Depending on the fair
market value of these options on their vesting dates, which will depend in significant part on the then current trading price of our Class A
common stock, the related charge could be significant during 2004 and subsequent periods. We recognized $8.2 million of stock-based
compensation related to these options that vest over time in the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included at the beginning of this report for additional information about stock-based
compensation.

Non-recurring portion of settlement of Disputes with Yahoo

On August 9, 2004, we and Yahoo entered into a settlement agreement resolving two disputes that had been pending between us. The first
dispute concerned a lawsuit filed by Yahoo�s wholly-owned subsidiary, Overture Services, Inc., against us in April 2002 asserting that certain
services infringed Overture�s U.S. Patent No. 6,269,361. In our court filings, we denied that we infringed the patent and alleged that the patent
was invalid and unenforceable.

The second dispute concerned a warrant held by Yahoo to purchase 3,719,056 shares of our stock in connection with a June 2000 services
agreement. Pursuant to a conversion provision in the warrant, in June 2003 we issued 1,229,944 shares to Yahoo. Yahoo contended it was
entitled to a greater number of shares, while we contended that we had fully complied with the terms of the warrant.

As part of the settlement, Overture dismissed its patent lawsuit against us and has granted us a fully-paid, perpetual license to the patent that was
the subject of the lawsuit and several related patent applications held by Overture. The parties also mutually released any claims against each
other concerning the warrant dispute. In connection with the settlement of these two disputes, we issued to Yahoo 2,700,000 shares of Class A
common stock.

We incurred a non-recurring non-cash charge of $201.0 million in the third quarter of 2004 related to this settlement. The non-cash charge
included among other items, the value of shares associated with the settlement of the warrant dispute. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included at the beginning of this report for additional information about the settlement of disputes with Yahoo.

Interest Income (Expense) and Other, Net

Interest income (expense) and other of $3.9 million in the three months ended September 30, 2004 was primarily the result of $4.1 million of
interest income earned on our significant larger cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments balances. This was partially offset by
approximately $200,000 of interest expense incurred on equipment leases, including the amortization of the fair value of warrants issued to
lenders in prior years.

Interest income (expense) and other of approximately $500,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2003 was primarily the result of $1.2
million of other income recognized, primarily related to a gain recorded for certain upfront fees paid by advertisers whose ads were not delivered
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during the related contract periods. In addition, we earned approximately $600,000 of interest income on cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments balances. These income amounts were partially offset by approximately $900,000 of foreign exchange losses from net receivables
denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars as a result of generally weakening foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar during the three
months ended September 30, 2003, and approximately $400,000 of interest expense incurred on equipment loans and leases, including the
amortization of the fair value of warrants issued to lenders in prior years.

Interest income (expense) and other of $2.7 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was primarily the result of $6.8 million of
interest income earned on cash, cash equivalents and short-term
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investments balances. This was partially offset by $3.4 million of foreign exchange losses from net receivables denominated in currencies other
than U.S. dollars as a result of generally weakening foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar during the nine months ended September 30, 2004,
and approximately $700,000 of interest expense incurred on equipment leases, including the amortization of the fair value of warrants issued to
lenders in prior years.

Interest income (expense) and other of $1.2 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was primarily the result of approximately $1.8
million of interest income earned on cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments balances and $1.2 million of other income recognized,
primarily related to a gain recorded for certain upfront fees paid by advertisers whose ads were not delivered during the related contract periods.
These income sources were partially offset by approximately $1.4 million of interest expense incurred on equipment loans and leases, including
the amortization of the fair value of warrants issued to lenders in prior years, approximately $200,000 of foreign exchange losses from net
receivables denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars as a result of generally weakening foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar during
the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and approximately $200,000 of losses incurred on the disposal of certain assets.

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded an income taxes benefit of $37.0 million in the three months ended September 30, 2004 compared to a $90.4 million provision for
income taxes and a 53% effective tax rate in the three months ended June 30, 2004, primarily as a result of a $46.0 million benefit recorded in
the third quarter related to certain stock-based compensation charges recognized prior to the initial public offering. No reductions had been made
previously to our provision for income taxes related to such charges and the associated tax benefit is only now being recognized as a result of
our transformation from a private to a publicly-held company. As the accounting reflects a change in estimate to our provision for income taxes
for the remainder of 2004, we will record an additional reduction to our provision for income taxes in the fourth quarter related to these
stock-based compensation charges recognized prior to the initial public offering. In addition, as we continue to recognize stock-based
compensation related to these options, we will also record a reduction to our provision for income taxes. We expect our effective tax rate for the
fourth quarter and all of 2004 to be significantly lower than the 53% effective tax rate in the second quarter.

Our provision for income taxes decreased to $145.0 million, or an effective tax rate of 43% in the nine months ended September 30, 2004, from
$178.8 million or an effective tax rate of 70% in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 primarily due to the reasons noted above and as a
result of lower stock-based compensation charges in relation to income before income taxes.

Our effective tax rate has historically been higher than the statutory rate because, in arriving at income before income taxes, we include in our
costs and expenses significant non-cash expenses related to stock-based compensation, which are recognized for financial reporting purposes,
but are not deductible for income tax purposes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In summary, our cash flows were:

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
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2003 2004

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 308,902 $ 608,947
Net cash used in investing activities (135,348) (1,604,722)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,214 1,194,328
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Since inception and through the completion of our initial public offering, we financed our operations primarily through internally generated
funds, private sales of preferred stock and stock warrants totaling $59.5 million and the use of our lines of credit with several financial
institutions. As a result of the completion of our initial public offering in August 2004, we raised $1,161.4 million of net proceeds. At September
30, 2004, we had $1,858.4 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Cash equivalents and short-term investments are
comprised of highly liquid debt instruments of the U.S. corporations, municipalities and the U.S. government and its agencies. Note 2 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included as part of this report describes further the composition of our short-term investments.

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, as well as the cash flow that we generate from our
operations. At September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, we had unused letters of credit for approximately $14.9 million and $12.2 million.
We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to satisfy our
currently anticipated cash requirements through at least the next 12 months. Our liquidity could be negatively affected by a decrease in demand
for our products and services. In addition, we may make acquisitions or license products and technologies complementary to our business and
may need to raise additional capital through future debt or equity financing to the extent necessary to fund any such acquisitions and licensing
activities. Additional financing may not be available at all or on terms favorable to us.

Cash provided by operating activities primarily consisted of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items including depreciation, amortization,
stock-based compensation, tax benefits from exercise of warrants, the non-recurring portion of our settlement of disputes with Yahoo and the
effect of changes in working capital and other activities. Cash provided by operating activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was
$608.9 million and consisted of net income of $195.0 million, adjustments for non-cash items of $662.1 million and offset by $248.2 million
used in working capital and other activities. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily included $219.2 million of stock-based compensation,
$145.0 million of tax benefits from exercise of warrants, which resulted in a decrease to our income tax obligation, and $201.0 million related to
the non-recurring portion of the settlement of disputes with Yahoo. Working capital activities primarily consisted of a net increase in income
taxes receivable and deferred income taxes of $182.4 million primarily due to the exercises of warrants and a tax benefit related to certain
stock-based compensation charges recognized prior to the initial public offering. In addition, working capital activities consisted of an increase
of $78.4 million in accounts receivable due to the growth in fees billed to our advertisers.

Cash provided by operating activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was $308.9 million and consisted of net income of $78.4
million, adjustments for non-cash items of $193.2 million and $37.3 million provided by working capital and other activities. Adjustments for
non-cash items primarily included $144.4 million of stock-based compensation. Working capital and other activities primarily consisted of an
increase of $35.2 million in accounts payable and an increase of $58.0 million in accrued revenue share due to the growth in our AdSense
programs and the timing of payments made to our Google Network members, partially offset by an increase of $54.5 million in accounts
receivable due to the growth in fees billed our advertisers.

As warrants to purchase an additional 487,184 shares of our stock, and as certain options to purchase additional shares of Class A and Class B
common stock are exercised as anticipated over the current and future years, we expect to realize additional reductions in our tax liabilities. The
reduction in our tax liability is computed based on the applicable statutory rates and the difference between the value of our stock on the date of
exercise or issuance, as determined by the market, and the price paid for those shares.

Also, as we expand our business internationally, we may offer payment terms to certain advertisers that are standard in their locales, but longer
than terms we would generally offer to our domestic advertisers. This may increase our working capital requirements and may have a negative
effect on cash flow provided by our operating activities. In addition, we expect that, now that we have become a public company, our cash-based
compensation per employee will likely increase (in the form of variable bonus awards and other incentive arrangements) in order to retain and
attract employees.
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Cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 of $1,604.7 million was attributable to net purchases of
short-term investments of $1,329.0 million, capital expenditures of $259.9 million and cash consideration used in acquisitions and other
investments of $15.8 million. Cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 of $135.3 million was attributable
to capital expenditures of $120.3 million, cash consideration used in acquisitions of $40.0 million, partially offset by net maturities of short-term
investments of $24.9 million.

Capital expenditures are mainly for the purchase of information technology assets. In order to manage expected increases in internet traffic,
advertising transactions and new products and services, and to support our overall global business expansion, we will continue to invest heavily
in data center operations, technology, corporate facilities and information technology infrastructure. We expect to spend over $300 million on
capital equipment, including information technology infrastructure comprised primarily of production servers and network equipment, to
manage our operations during 2004.

Cash provided by financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 of $1,194.3 million was due primarily to net proceeds from
the initial public offering of $1,161.4 million. Costs related to our initial public offering were approximately $40.6 million. Cash provided by
financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2003 of $4.2 million was due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock
pursuant to stock option exercises of $10.6 million, net of repurchases, offset by repayment of equipment loans and capital lease obligations of
$6.4 million.

Contractual Obligations

Certain AdSense agreements obligate us to make guaranteed minimum revenue share payments to Google Network members based on their
achieving defined performance terms, such as number of search queries or advertisements displayed. At October 31, 2004, our aggregate
outstanding non-cancellable minimum guarantee commitments totaled $461.0 million through 2007 compared to $369.4 million at June 30, 2004
and $477.0 million at December 31, 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. In doing so, we have
to make estimates and assumptions that affect our reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. In many cases, we could reasonably have used different accounting policies and estimates. In some cases
changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially from
our estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our financial condition or results of
operations will be affected. We base our estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. We refer to accounting estimates of this type as critical accounting policies
and estimates, which we discuss further below. Our management has reviewed our critical accounting policies and estimates with our board of
directors.

Stock-based Compensation

Accounting for Stock-Based Awards to Employees
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Prior to the initial public offering, we typically granted stock options at exercise prices equal to or less than the value of the underlying stock as
determined by our board of directors on the date of option grant. For purposes of financial accounting, we have applied hindsight to arrive at
reassessed values for the shares underlying these options. After the initial public offering, options have been granted at exercise prices equal to
the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of option grant. There are two measures of value of our
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common stock that were relevant to our accounting for equity compensation relating to our compensatory equity grants prior to our initial public
offering:

� The �board-determined value� is the per share value of our common stock determined by our board of directors at the time the board
made an equity grant, taking into account a variety of factors, including our historical and projected financial results, comparisons of
comparable companies, risks facing us, as well as the liquidity of the common stock.

� The �reassessed value� is the per share value of our common stock determined by us in hindsight solely for the purpose of financial
accounting for employee stock-based compensation.

We recorded deferred stock-based compensation to the extent that the reassessed value of the stock at the date of grant exceeded the exercise
price of the option. The reassessed values for accounting purposes were determined based on a number of factors and methodologies. One of the
significant methods we used to determine the reassessed values for the shares underlying options is through a comparison of price multiples of
our historical and forecasted earnings to certain public companies involved in the same or similar lines of business. The market capitalizations of
these companies increased significantly from January 2003 through July 2004 which contributed significantly to the increase in the reassessed
values of our shares. We also considered our financial performance and growth, primarily since January 2003. Our revenue and earnings growth
rates contributed significantly to the increase in the reassessed values of our shares. The reassessed values of our shares increased more
significantly in dollar and percentage terms in earlier periods compared to later ones which are reflective of the related revenue and earnings
growth rates. We also retained third party advisors to provide two contemporaneous valuation analyses since January 2003 and used this
information to support our own valuation analyses. Please note that these reassessed values are inherently uncertain and highly subjective. If we
had made different assumptions, our deferred stock-based compensation amount, stock-based compensation expense, in-process research and
development expense, net income, net income per share and recorded goodwill amounts could have been significantly different.

The table below shows the computation of deferred stock-based compensation amounts arising from restricted shares and unvested stock options
granted to employees for each of the three and nine month periods set forth below:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2003

September 30,
2004

September
30,

2003
September 30,

2004

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
Options granted to employees 5,785,185 635,371 17,478,837 2,605,671
Weighted average exercise price $ 5.17 $ 77.86 $ 2.27 $ 39.50
Weighted average reassessed value of underlying stock $ 52.33 $ 85.00 $ 27.79 $ 90.66
Weighted average reassessed deferred stock-based
compensation per option $ 47.17 $ 7.14 $ 25.52 $ 51.16
Deferred stock-based compensation related to options (in
millions) $ 272.9 $ 4.5 $ 446.1 $ 133.3
Restricted shares granted to employees 114,999 �  234,999 16,175
Weighted average reassessed value of restricted shares $ 66.41 �  $ 45.75 $ 95.09
Deferred stock-based compensation related to restricted
shares (in millions) $ 7.6 �  $ 10.8 $ 1.5
Deferred stock-based compensation related to option
modifications (in millions) $ �  �  $ �  $ 3.9

Total deferred stock-based compensation (in millions) $ 280.5 $ 4.5 $ 456.9 $ 138.7
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The above table does not include options granted at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the time of, and
subsequent to, the initial public offering. Also, it does not include options granted at exercise prices in excess of the reassessed values of the
underlying stock prior to the initial public offering. These options were granted with no intrinsic value and, accordingly, no deferred stock-based
compensation has been recorded.

Accounting for Stock-Based Awards to Non-employees

We measure the fair value of options to purchase our common stock granted to non-employees throughout the vesting period as they are earned,
at which time we recognize a charge to stock-based compensation. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
which considers the exercise price relative to the reassessed value (for periods before the initial public offering) or the fair market value (for
periods after the initial public offering) of the underlying stock, the expected stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate and the dividend
yield. As discussed above, the reassessed value of the underlying stock were based on assumptions of matters that are inherently highly
uncertain and subjective. As there has been no public market for our stock for most periods presented, and little meaningful empirical public
market trading data for the period of time there was a public market for our stock, our assumptions about stock-price volatility are based on the
volatility rates of comparable publicly held companies. These rates may or may not reflect our stock-price volatility after we have been a
publicly held company for a meaningful period of time. If we had made different assumptions about the reassessed value of our stock or
stock-price volatility rates, the related stock-based compensation expense and our net income and net income per share amounts could have been
significantly different.
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FACTORS THAT COULD AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

Because of the following factors, as well as other variables affecting our operating results and financial condition, past financial performance
may not be a reliable indicator of future performance, and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We face significant competition from Microsoft and Yahoo.

We face formidable competition in every aspect of our business, and particularly from other companies that seek to connect people with
information on the web and provide them with relevant advertising. Currently, we consider our primary competitors to be Microsoft Corporation
and Yahoo! Inc. Microsoft recently introduced a test version of a new search engine and has announced plans to develop features that may make
web search a more integrated part of its Windows operating system. We expect that Microsoft will increasingly use its financial and engineering
resources to compete with us. Yahoo has become an increasingly significant competitor, having acquired Overture Services, which offers
Internet advertising solutions that compete with our AdWords and AdSense programs, as well as the Inktomi, AltaVista and AllTheWeb search
engines.

Both Microsoft and Yahoo have more employees than we do (in Microsoft�s case, currently more than 20 times as many). Microsoft also has
significantly more cash resources than we do. Both of these companies also have longer operating histories and more established relationships
with customers. They can use their experience and resources against us in a variety of competitive ways, including by making acquisitions,
investing more aggressively in research and development and competing more aggressively for advertisers and web sites. Microsoft and Yahoo
also may have a greater ability to attract and retain users than we do because they operate Internet portals with a broad range of content, products
and services. If Microsoft or Yahoo are successful in providing similar or better web search results compared to ours or leverage their platforms
to make their web search services easier to access than ours, we could experience a significant decline in user traffic. Any such decline in traffic
could negatively affect our revenues.

We face competition from other Internet companies, including web search providers, Internet advertising companies and destination web
sites that may also bundle their services with Internet access.

In addition to Microsoft and Yahoo, we face competition from other web search providers, including companies that are not yet known to us. We
compete with Internet advertising companies, particularly in the areas of pay-for-performance and keyword-targeted Internet advertising. Also,
we may compete with companies that sell products and services online because these companies, like us, are trying to attract users to their web
sites to search for information about products and services.

We also compete with destination web sites that seek to increase their search-related traffic. These destination web sites may include those
operated by Internet access providers, such as cable and DSL service providers. Because our users need to access our services through Internet
access providers, they have direct relationships with these providers. If an access provider or a computer or computing device manufacturer
offers online services that compete with ours, the user may find it more convenient to use the services of the access provider or manufacturer. In
addition, the access provider or manufacturer may make it hard to access our services by not listing them in the access provider�s or
manufacturer�s own menu of offerings. Also, because the access provider gathers information from the user in connection with the establishment
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of a billing relationship, the access provider may be more effective than we are in tailoring services and advertisements to the specific tastes of
the user.

There has been a trend toward industry consolidation among our competitors, and so smaller competitors today may become larger competitors
in the future. If our competitors are more successful than we are at generating traffic, our revenues may decline.
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We face competition from traditional media companies, and we may not be included in the advertising budgets of large advertisers, which
could harm our operating results.

In addition to Internet companies, we face competition from companies that offer traditional media advertising opportunities. Most large
advertisers have set advertising budgets, a very small portion of which is allocated to Internet advertising. We expect that large advertisers will
continue to focus most of their advertising efforts on traditional media. If we fail to convince these companies to spend a portion of their
advertising budgets with us, or if our existing advertisers reduce the amount they spend on our programs, our operating results would be harmed.

We expect our growth rates to decline and anticipate downward pressure on our operating margin in the future.

We expect that in the future our revenue growth rate will decline over time and anticipate that there will be downward pressure on our operating
margin. We believe our revenue growth rate will generally decline as a result of increasing competition and the inevitable decline in growth rates
as our revenues increase to higher levels. We believe our operating margin will generally decline as a result of increasing competition and
increased expenditures for all aspects of our business as a percentage of our revenues, including product development and sales and marketing
expenses. Our operating margin may decline to the extent the proportion of our revenues generated from our Google Network members
increases. The margin on revenue we generate from our Google Network members is generally significantly less than the margin on revenue we
generate from advertising on our web sites. Additionally, the margin we earn on revenue generated from our Google Network could decrease in
the future if our Google Network members demand a greater portion of the advertising fees.

Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict and could cause our results to fall short of expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control. For these reasons, comparing
our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future
performance. Our quarterly and annual expenses as a percentage of our revenues may be significantly different from our historical or projected
rates. Our operating results in future quarters may fall below expectations. Any of these events could cause our stock price to fall. Each of the
risk factors listed in this �Risk Factors� section, and the following factors, may affect our operating results:

� Our ability to continue to attract users to our web sites.

� The monetization of (or generation of revenue from) traffic on our web sites and our Google Network members� web sites.

� Our ability to attract advertisers to our AdWords program.

� Our ability to attract web sites to our AdSense program.

� The mix in our revenues between those generated on our web sites and those generated through our Google Network.

� The amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion of our businesses,
operations and infrastructure.
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� Our focus on long term goals over short term results.

� The results of our investments in risky projects.

� Payments made in connection with the resolution of litigation matters.

� General economic conditions and those economic conditions specific to the Internet and Internet advertising.
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� Our ability to keep our web sites operational at a reasonable cost and without service interruptions.

� Our ability to forecast revenue from agreements under which we guarantee minimum payments.

� Geopolitical events such as war, threat of war or terrorist actions.

Because our business is changing and evolving, our historical operating results may not be useful to you in predicting our future operating
results. In addition, advertising spending has historically been cyclical in nature, reflecting overall economic conditions as well as budgeting and
buying patterns. For example, in 1999, advertisers spent heavily on Internet advertising. This was followed by a lengthy downturn in ad
spending on the web. Also, user traffic tends to be seasonal. Our rapid growth has masked the cyclicality and seasonality of our business. As our
growth slows, we expect that the cyclicality and seasonality in our business may become more pronounced and may in the future cause our
operating results to fluctuate.

The trading price for our Class A common stock is volatile.

The trading price of our Class A common stock has been volatile since our initial public offering and will likely continue to be volatile. The
trading price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate widely in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These
factors include:

� Quarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors.

� Announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital
commitments.

� Disruption to our operations or those of our Google Network members or our data centers.

� The emergence of new sales channels in which we are unable to compete effectively.

� Our ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on a timely basis.

� Commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation.

� Any major change in our board or management.

� Changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals.

� Recommendations by securities analysts or changes in earnings estimates.
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� Announcements about our earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations, the likelihood of which is enhanced because it is our
policy not to give guidance on earnings.

� Announcements by our competitors of their earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations.

� The volume of shares of Class A common stock available for trade.

� Short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions on shares of our Class A common stock.

� General economic and political conditions and slow or negative growth of related markets.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and
industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our Class A common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Fluctuations
in the trading price of our Class A common stock may be even more pronounced since we only recently completed our initial public offering. In
the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the trading price of a company�s securities, securities class action litigation has
often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our
management�s attention and resources.
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Future sales of shares by our stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of shares or the availability of shares for sale will have on the trading price prevailing from
time to time. At September 30, 2004, we had outstanding 273,227,529 shares of common stock. We have entered into contractual lock-up
agreements with our officers, directors and certain employees and other securityholders, representing the holders of substantially all of our
outstanding capital stock. In addition, our employees can only sell vested shares. Sales of our Class A common stock in the public market after
the restrictions set forth in these agreements lapse or once these shares vest, or the perception that those sales may occur, could cause the trading
price of our stock to decrease or to be lower than it might be in the absence of those sales or perceptions. We may, in our sole discretion, permit
our officers, directors, employees and current stockholders who are subject to contractual lock-up agreements with us to sell shares prior to the
expiration of their lock-up agreements. None of our officers, directors, employees or stockholders have entered into contractual lock-up
agreements with the underwriters in connection with our initial public offering.

We have filed a registration statement on Form S-8 relating to certain options granted to our officers, directors and employees and a registration
statement on Form S-1 relating to certain of our options and shares that are subject to rights of rescission in favor of holders of these options and
shares. As a result of these registration statements, certain selling restriction agreements between us and our stockholders and the provisions of
Rules 144, 144(k) and 701 of the Securities Act of 1933, shares of our Class A common stock first become available for sale in the public
market as follows:

Date Additional Shares Eligible for Public Sale

After September 2, 2004 4,667,483
At November 16, 2004 and various times thereafter 39,071,376
At December 16, 2004 and various times thereafter 24,874,091
At January 15, 2005 and various times thereafter 24,874,091
At February 14, 2005 and various times thereafter 176,794,161

As of September 30, 2004, 147,224,908 of these shares are held by directors, executive officers and other affiliates and are subject to volume
limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933 and various agreements which impose vesting on these shares. If these additional
shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline. The selling
restriction agreements between us and our stockholders have allowed significantly more shares to become freely tradeable after our initial public
offering than is typical of initial public offerings.

In addition, we have agreed with our underwriters not to sell any shares of our common stock for a period of 180 days after August 18, 2004.
However, this agreement is subject to a number of exceptions, including an exception that allows us to issue an unlimited number of shares in
connection with mergers and acquisition transactions, joint ventures or other strategic transactions. Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and
Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, on behalf of the underwriters of our initial public offering, may release us from this lock-up arrangement
without notice at any time. After the expiration of the 180-day period, there is no contractual restriction on our ability to issue additional shares.
Any sales of common stock by us, or the perception that such sales could occur, could cause our stock price to decline.

If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful to users, we may not remain competitive, and our
revenues and operating results could suffer.
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Our success depends on providing products and services that people use for a high quality Internet experience. Our competitors are constantly
developing innovations in web search, online advertising and providing information to people. As a result, we must continue to invest significant
resources in research and development in order to enhance our web search technology and our existing products and services and introduce new
high-quality products and services that people can easily and effectively use. If we are unable to ensure that our users and customers have a high
quality experience with our products and services then these customers may become dissatisfied and move to competitors� products. In addition,
if we are unable to predict user preferences or industry changes, or if we are unable to modify our products and services on a timely basis, we
may lose users,
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advertisers and Google Network members. Our operating results would also suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our
users, advertisers and Google Network members, are not appropriately timed with market opportunity or are not effectively brought to market.
As search technology continues to develop, our competitors may be able to offer search results that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially
similar or better than those generated by our search services. This may force us to compete on bases in addition to quality of search results and to
expend significant resources in order to remain competitive.

We generate our revenue almost entirely from advertising, and the reduction in spending by or loss of advertisers could seriously harm our
business.

We generated approximately 97% of our revenues in 2003 and 98% of our revenues in the nine months ended September 30, 2004 from our
advertisers. Our advertisers can generally terminate their contracts with us at any time. Advertisers will not continue to do business with us if
their investment in advertising with us does not generate sales leads, and ultimately customers, or if we do not deliver their advertisements in an
appropriate and effective manner. If we are unable to remain competitive and provide value to our advertisers, they may stop placing ads with
us, which would negatively affect our revenues and business.

We rely on our Google Network members for a significant portion of our revenues, and otherwise benefit from our association with them.
The loss of these members could prevent us from receiving the benefits we receive from our association with these Google Network members,
which could adversely affect our business.

We provide advertising, web search and other services to members of our Google Network. The revenues generated from the fees advertisers
pay us when users click on ads that we have delivered to our Google Network members� web sites represented approximately 43% of our
revenues in 2003, and approximately 49% of our revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. We consider this network to be
critical to the future growth of our revenues. However, some of the participants in this network may compete with us in one or more areas.
Therefore, they may decide in the future to terminate their agreements with us. If our Google Network members decide to use a competitor�s or
their own web search or advertising services, our revenues would decline.

Our agreements with a few of the largest Google Network members account for a significant portion of revenues derived from our AdSense
program. In addition, advertising and other fees generated from one Google Network member, America Online, Inc., primarily through our
AdSense program accounted for approximately 15%, 16% and 13% of our revenues in 2002, 2003 and in the nine months ended September 30,
2004. Also, certain of our key network members operate high-profile web sites, and we derive tangible and intangible benefits from this
affiliation. If one or more of these key relationships is terminated or not renewed, and is not replaced with a comparable relationship, our
business would be adversely affected.

Our business and operations are experiencing rapid growth. If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and operating results
could be harmed and we may have to incur significant expenditures to address the additional operational and control requirements of this
growth.

We have experienced, and continue to experience, rapid growth in our headcount and operations, which has placed, and will continue to place,
significant demands on our management, operational and financial infrastructure. If we do not effectively manage our growth, the quality of our
products and services could suffer, which could negatively affect our brand and operating results. To effectively manage this growth, we will
need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures. These systems
enhancements and improvements will require significant capital expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources. If the
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improvements are not implemented successfully, our ability to manage our growth will be impaired and we may have to make significant
additional expenditures to address these issues, which could harm our financial position. The required improvements include:

� Enhancing our information and communication systems to ensure that our offices around the world are well coordinated and that we
can effectively communicate with our growing base of users, advertisers and Google Network members.
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� Enhancing systems of internal controls to ensure timely and accurate reporting of all of our operations.

� Documenting all of our information technology systems and our business processes for our ad systems and our billing systems.

� Improving our information technology infrastructure to maintain the effectiveness of our search systems.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and if we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, our ability to expand our base of users,
advertisers and Google Network members will be impaired and our business and operating results will be harmed.

We believe that the brand identity that we have developed has significantly contributed to the success of our business. We also believe that
maintaining and enhancing the �Google� brand is critical to expanding our base of users, advertisers and Google Network members. Maintaining
and enhancing our brand may require us to make substantial investments and these investments may not be successful. If we fail to promote and
maintain the �Google� brand, or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business, operating results and financial condition will be
materially and adversely affected. We anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive, maintaining and enhancing our brand
may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend largely on our ability to be a technology
leader and to continue to provide high quality products and services, which we may not do successfully. To date, we have engaged in relatively
little direct brand promotion activities. This enhances the risk that we may not successfully implement brand enhancement efforts in the future.

People have in the past expressed, and may in the future express, objections to aspects of our products. For example, people have raised privacy
concerns relating to the ability of our recently announced Gmail email service to match relevant ads to the content of email messages. Some
people have also reacted negatively to the fact that our search technology can be used to help people find hateful or derogatory information on
the web. Aspects of our future products may raise similar public concerns. Publicity regarding such concerns could harm our brand. In addition,
members of the Google Network and other third parties may take actions that could impair the value of our brand. We are aware that third
parties, from time to time, use �Google� and similar variations in their domain names without our approval, and our brand may be harmed if users
and advertisers associate these domains with us.

Proprietary document formats may limit the effectiveness of our search technology by preventing our technology from accessing the content
of documents in such formats which could limit the effectiveness of our products and services.

An increasing amount of information on the Internet is provided in proprietary document formats such as Microsoft Word. The providers of the
software application used to create these documents could engineer the document format to prevent or interfere with our ability to access the
document contents with our search technology. This would mean that the document contents would not be included in our search results even if
the contents were directly relevant to a search. These types of activities could assist our competitors or diminish the value of our search results.
The software providers may also seek to require us to pay them royalties in exchange for giving us the ability to search documents in their
format. If the software provider also competes with us in the search business, they may give their search technology a preferential ability to
search documents in their proprietary format. Any of these results could harm our brand and our operating results.

New technologies could block our ads, which would harm our business.

Technologies may be developed that can block the display of our ads. Most of our revenues are derived from fees paid to us by advertisers in
connection with the display of ads on web pages. As a result, ad-blocking technology could, in the future, adversely affect our operating results.
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Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation,
creativity and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our business may be harmed.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters innovation, creativity and
teamwork. As our organization grows, and we are required to implement more complex organizational management structures, we may find it
increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture. This could negatively impact our future success. In addition, our
initial public offering has created disparities in wealth among Google employees, which may adversely affect relations among employees and
our corporate culture in general.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.
As a result, current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the
trading price of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable
financial reports or prevent fraud, our brand and operating results could be harmed. We have in the past discovered, and may in the future
discover, areas of our internal controls that need improvement. For example, during our 2002 audit, our external auditors brought to our attention
a need to increase restrictions on employee access to our advertising system and automate more of our financial processes. The auditors
identified these issues together as a �reportable condition,� which means that these were matters that in the auditors� judgment could adversely
affect our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data consistent with the assertions of management in the financial
statements. In 2003, we devoted significant resources to remediate and improve our internal controls. Although we believe that these efforts
have strengthened our internal controls and addressed the concerns that gave rise to the �reportable condition� in 2002, we are continuing to work
to improve our internal controls, including in the areas of access and security. We cannot be certain that these measures will ensure that we
implement and maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required new or
improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a
negative effect on the trading price of our stock.

We intend to migrate critical financial functions to a third-party provider. If this potential transition is not successful, our business and
operations could be disrupted and our operating results would be harmed.

We have entered into an arrangement to transfer our worldwide billing, collection and credit evaluation functions to a third-party service
provider, Bertelsmann AG, and are currently in the process of implementing this arrangement; however, we cannot be sure that the arrangement
will be completed and implemented. The third-party provider will also track, on an automated basis, a majority of our growing number of
AdSense revenue share agreements. These functions are critical to our operations and involve sensitive interactions between us and our
advertisers and members of our Google Network. If we do not successfully implement this project, our business, reputation and operating results
could be harmed. We have no experience managing and implementing this type of large-scale, cross-functional, international infrastructure
project. We also may not be able to integrate our systems and processes with those of the third-party service provider on a timely basis, or at all.
Even if this integration is completed on time, the service provider may not perform to agreed upon service levels. Failure of the service provider
to perform satisfactorily could result in customer dissatisfaction, disrupt our operations and adversely affect operating results. We will have
significantly less control over the systems and processes than if we maintained and operated them ourselves, which increases our risk. If we need
to find an alternative source for performing these functions, we may have to expend significant resources in doing so, and we cannot guarantee
this would be accomplished in a timely manner or without significant additional disruption to our business.
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Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our products, services and brand.

Our patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and all of our other intellectual property rights are important assets for us. There are events
that are outside of our control that pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. For example, effective intellectual property protection may not
be available in every country in which our products and services are distributed or made available through the Internet. Also, the efforts we have
taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective. Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could
harm our business or our ability to compete. Also, protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time consuming. Any increase in the
unauthorized use of our intellectual property could make it more expensive to do business and harm our operating results.

Although we seek to obtain patent protection for our innovations, it is possible that we may not be able to protect some of these innovations. In
addition, given the costs of obtaining patent protection, we may choose not to protect certain innovations that later turn out to be important.
Furthermore, there is always the possibility, despite our efforts, that the scope of the protection gained will be insufficient or that an issued
patent may be deemed invalid or unenforceable.

We also face risks associated with our trademarks. For example, there is a risk that the word �Google� could become so commonly used that it
becomes synonymous with the word �search.� If this happens, we could lose protection for this trademark, which could result in other people using
the word �Google� to refer to their own products, thus diminishing our brand.

We also seek to maintain certain intellectual property as trade secrets. The secrecy could be compromised by third parties, or intentionally or
accidentally by our employees, which would cause us to lose the competitive advantage resulting from these trade secrets.

We are, and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims, which are costly to defend, could require us to pay damages
and could limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future.

Companies in the Internet, technology and media industries own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and
frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. As we face increasing
competition, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows. Our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party
claims or rights against their use. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, expensive to litigate or settle
and could divert management resources and attention. In addition, many of our agreements with members of our Google Network require us to
indemnify these members for certain third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase our costs as a result of
defending such claims and may require that we pay damages if there were an adverse ruling in any such claims. An adverse determination also
could prevent us from offering our products and services to others and may require that we procure substitute products or services for these
members.

With respect to any intellectual property rights claim, we may have to pay damages or stop using technology found to be in violation of a third
party�s rights. We may have to seek a license for the technology, which may not be available on reasonable terms and may significantly increase
our operating expenses. The technology also may not be available for license to us at all. As a result, we may also be required to develop
alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense. If we cannot license or develop technology for the
infringing aspects of our business, we may be forced to limit our product and service offerings and may be unable to compete effectively. Any of
these results could harm our brand and operating results.
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filed trademark infringement and related claims against us over the display of ads in response to user queries that include trademark terms. The
outcomes of these lawsuits have differed from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. A court in France has held us liable for allowing advertisers to select
certain trademarked terms as keywords. We have appealed this decision. We were also subject to two lawsuits in Germany on similar matters
where the courts held that we are not liable for the actions of our advertisers prior to notification of trademark rights. We are litigating similar
issues in other cases in the U.S., France, Germany and Italy.

In order to provide users with more useful ads, we have revised our trademark policy in the U.S. and Canada. Under our new policy, we no
longer disable ads due to selection by our advertisers of trademarks as keyword triggers for the ads. As a result of this change in policy, we may
be subject to more trademark infringement lawsuits. Defending these lawsuits could take time and resources. Adverse results in these lawsuits
may result in, or even compel, a change in this practice which could result in a loss of revenue for us, which could harm our business.

We have also been notified by third parties that they believe features of certain of our products, including Google WebSearch, Google News and
Google Image Search, violate their copyrights. Generally speaking, any time that we have a product or service that links to or hosts material in
which others allege to own copyrights, we face the risk of being sued for copyright infringement or related claims. Because these products and
services comprise the majority of our products and services, the risk of potential harm from such lawsuits is substantial.

Expansion into international markets is important to our long-term success, and our inexperience in the operation of our business outside
the U.S. increases the risk that our international expansion efforts will not be successful.

We opened our first office outside the U.S. in 2001 and have only limited experience with operations outside the U.S. Expansion into
international markets requires management attention and resources. In addition, we face the following additional risks associated with our
expansion outside the U.S.:

� Challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences.

� Longer payment cycles in some countries.

� Credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud.

� Legal and regulatory restrictions.

� Currency exchange rate fluctuations.

� Foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned in countries outside the U.S.

� Political and economic instability and export restrictions.

� Potentially adverse tax consequences.
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These risks could harm our international expansion efforts, which would in turn harm our business and operating results.
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We compete internationally with local information providers and with U.S. competitors who are currently more successful than we are in
various markets, and if we fail to compete effectively in international markets, our business will be harmed.

We face different market characteristics and competition outside the U.S. In certain markets, other web search, advertising services and Internet
companies have greater brand recognition, more users and more search traffic than we have. Even in countries where we have a significant user
following, we may not be as successful in generating advertising revenue due to slower market development, our inability to provide attractive
local advertising services or other factors. In order to compete, we need to improve our brand recognition and our selling efforts internationally
and build stronger relationships with advertisers. We also need to better understand our international users and their preferences. If we fail to do
so, our global expansion efforts may be more costly and less profitable than we expect.

Our business may be adversely affected by malicious third-party applications that interfere with, or exploit security flaws in, our products
and services.

Our business may be adversely affected by malicious applications that make changes to our users� computers and interfere with the Google
experience. These applications have in the past attempted, and may in the future attempt, to change our users� Internet experience, including
hijacking queries to Google.com, altering or replacing Google search results, or otherwise interfering with our ability to connect with our users.
The interference often occurs without disclosure to or consent from users, resulting in a negative experience that users may associate with
Google. These applications may be difficult or impossible to uninstall or disable, may reinstall themselves and may circumvent other
applications� efforts to block or remove them. In addition, we offer a number of products and services that our users download to their computers
or that they rely on to store information and transmit information to others over the Internet. These products and services are subject to attack by
viruses, worms and other malicious software programs, which could jeopardize the security of information stored in a user�s computer or in our
computer systems and networks. The ability to reach users and provide them with a superior experience is critical to our success. If our efforts to
combat these malicious applications are unsuccessful or if our products and services have actual or perceived security vulnerabilities, our
reputation may be harmed and our user traffic could decline, which would damage our business.

If we fail to detect click-through fraud, we could lose the confidence of our advertisers, thereby causing our business to suffer.

We are exposed to the risk of fraudulent clicks on our ads by persons seeking to increase the advertising fees paid to our Google Network
members. We have regularly refunded revenue that our advertisers have paid to us and that was later attributed to click-through fraud, and we
expect to do so in the future. Click-through fraud occurs when a person clicks on a Google AdWords ad displayed on a web site in order to
generate the revenue share payment to the Google Network member rather than to view the underlying content. If we are unable to stop this
fraudulent activity, these refunds may increase. If we find new evidence of past fraudulent clicks we may have to issue refunds retroactively of
amounts previously paid to our Google Network members. This would negatively affect our profitability, and these types of fraudulent activities
could hurt our brand. If fraudulent clicks are not detected, the affected advertisers may experience a reduced return on their investment in our
advertising programs because the fraudulent clicks will not lead to potential revenue for the advertisers. This could lead the advertisers to
become dissatisfied with our advertising programs, which could lead to loss of advertisers and revenue.

Index spammers could harm the integrity of our web search results, which could damage our reputation and cause our users to be
dissatisfied with our products and services.

There is an ongoing and increasing effort by �index spammers� to develop ways to manipulate our web search results. For example, because our
web search technology ranks a web page�s relevance based in part on the importance of the web sites that link to it, people have attempted to link
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manipulate web search results. We take this problem very seriously because providing relevant information to users is critical to our success. If
our efforts to combat these and other types of index spamming are unsuccessful, our reputation for delivering relevant information could be
diminished. This could result in a decline in user traffic, which would damage our business.

Privacy concerns relating to elements of our technology could damage our reputation and deter current and potential users from using our
products and services.

From time to time, concerns may be expressed about whether our products and services compromise the privacy of users and others. Concerns
about our collection, use or sharing of personal information or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded, could damage our reputation
and operating results. Recently, several groups have raised privacy concerns in connection with our Gmail free email service which we
announced in April 2004 and these concerns have attracted a significant amount of public commentary and attention. The concerns relate
principally to the fact that Gmail uses computers to match advertisements to the content of a user�s email message when email messages are
viewed using the Gmail service. Privacy concerns have also arisen with our products that provide improved access to personal information that
is already publicly available, but that we have made more readily accessible by the public.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, which could subject us to claims or other remedies based on the nature and
content of the information searched or displayed by our products and services, and could limit our ability to provide information regarding
regulated industries and products.

The laws relating to the liability of providers of online services for activities of their users are currently unsettled both within the U.S. and
abroad. Claims have been threatened and filed under both U.S. and foreign law for defamation, libel, invasion of privacy and other data
protection claims, tort, unlawful activity, copyright or trademark infringement, or other theories based on the nature and content of the materials
searched and the ads posted or the content generated by our users. From time to time we have received notices from individuals who do not want
their names or web sites to appear in our web search results when certain keywords are searched. It is also possible that we could be held liable
for misinformation provided over the web when that information appears in our web search results. If one of these complaints results in liability
to us, it could be potentially costly, encourage similar lawsuits, distract management and harm our reputation and possibly our business. In
addition, increased attention focused on these issues and legislative proposals could harm our reputation or otherwise affect the growth of our
business.

The application to us of existing laws regulating or requiring licenses for certain businesses of our advertisers, including, for example,
distribution of pharmaceuticals, adult content, financial services, alcohol or firearms, can be unclear. Existing or new legislation could expose us
to substantial liability, restrict our ability to deliver services to our users, limit our ability to grow and cause us to incur significant expenses in
order to comply with such laws and regulations.

Several other federal laws could have an impact on our business. Compliance with these laws and regulations is complex and may impose
significant additional costs on us. For example, the Digital Millennium Copyright Act has provisions that limit, but do not eliminate, our liability
for listing or linking to third-party web sites that include materials that infringe copyrights or other rights, so long as we comply with the
statutory requirements of this act. The Children�s Online Protection Act and the Children�s Online Privacy Protection Act restrict the distribution
of materials considered harmful to children and impose additional restrictions on the ability of online services to collect information from
minors. In addition, the Protection of Children from Sexual Predators Act of 1998 requires online service providers to report evidence of
violations of federal child pornography laws under certain circumstances. Any failure on our part to comply with these regulations may subject
us to additional liabilities.
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interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, this could result in an
order requiring that we change our data practices, which in turn could have a material effect on our business.

We also face risks from legislation that could be passed in the future. For example, there is a risk that state legislatures will attempt to regulate
the automated scanning of email messages in ways that interfere with our Gmail free advertising-supported web mail service that we recently
announced as a test service. Any such legislation could make it more difficult for us to operate or could prohibit the aspects of our Gmail service
that uses computers to match advertisements to the content of a user�s email message when email messages are viewed using the service. This
could prevent us from implementing the Gmail service in any affected states and impair our ability to compete in the email services market.

If we were to lose the services of Eric, Larry, Sergey or our senior management team, we may not be able to execute our business strategy.

Our future success depends in a large part upon the continued service of key members of our senior management team. In particular, our CEO
Eric Schmidt and our founders Larry Page and Sergey Brin are critical to the overall management of Google as well as the development of our
technology, our culture and our strategic direction. All of our executive officers and key employees are at-will employees, and we do not
maintain any key-person life insurance policies. The loss of any of our management or key personnel could seriously harm our business.

The initial option grants to many of our senior management and key employees are fully vested. Therefore, these employees may not have
sufficient financial incentive to stay with us, we may have to incur costs to replace key employees that leave, and our ability to execute our
business model could be impaired if we cannot replace departing employees in a timely manner.

Many of our senior management personnel and other key employees have become, or will soon become, substantially vested in their initial stock
option grants. While we often grant additional stock options to management personnel and other key employees after their hire dates to provide
additional incentives to remain employed by us, their initial grants are usually much larger than follow-on grants. Employees may be more likely
to leave us after their initial option grant fully vests, especially if the shares underlying the options have significantly appreciated in value
relative to the option exercise price. We have not given any additional grants to Eric, Larry or Sergey. Larry and Sergey are fully vested, and
only a small portion of Eric�s stock is subject to future vesting. If any members of our senior management team leave the company, our ability to
successfully operate our business could be impaired. We also may have to incur significant costs in identifying, hiring, training and retaining
replacements for departing employees.

We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified personnel, we may not be able
to grow effectively.

Our performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals. Our future success depends on our continuing
ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled personnel for all areas of our organization. Competition in our industry for
qualified employees is intense, and we are aware that certain of our competitors have directly targeted our employees. Our continued ability to
compete effectively depends on our ability to attract new employees and to retain and motivate our existing employees.

We have in the past maintained a rigorous, highly selective and time-consuming hiring process. We believe that our approach to hiring has
significantly contributed to our success to date. As we grow, our hiring process may prevent us from hiring the personnel we need in a timely
manner. In addition, as we become a more mature company, we may find our recruiting efforts more challenging. The incentives to attract,

Edgar Filing: Google Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 83



retain and motivate employees provided by our option grants or by future arrangements, such as through cash bonuses, may not be as effective
as in the past. If we do not succeed in attracting excellent personnel or retaining or motivating existing personnel, we may be unable to grow
effectively.
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Our CEO and our two founders run the business and affairs of the company collectively, which may harm their ability to manage effectively.

Eric, our CEO, and Larry and Sergey, our founders and presidents, currently provide leadership to the company as a team. Our bylaws provide
that our CEO and our presidents will together have general supervision, direction and control of the company, subject to the control of our board
of directors. As a result, Eric, Larry and Sergey tend to operate the company collectively and to consult extensively with each other before
significant decisions are made. This may slow the decision-making process, and a disagreement among these individuals could prevent key
strategic decisions from being made in a timely manner. In the event our CEO and our two founders are unable to continue to work well together
in providing cohesive leadership, our business could be harmed.

We have a short operating history and a relatively new business model in an emerging and rapidly evolving market. This makes it difficult to
evaluate our future prospects and may increase the risk that we will not continue to be successful.

We first derived revenue from our online search business in 1999 and from our advertising services in 2000, and we have only a short operating
history with our cost-per-click advertising model, which we launched in 2002. As a result, we have very little operating history for you to
evaluate in assessing our future prospects. Also, we derive nearly all of our revenues from online advertising, which is an immature industry that
has undergone rapid and dramatic changes in its short history. You must consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties
we will encounter as an early-stage company in a new and rapidly evolving market. We may not be able to successfully address these risks and
difficulties, which could materially harm our business and operating results.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our existing architecture to accommodate increased traffic and technology advances or
changing business requirements, which could lead to the loss of users, advertisers and Google Network members, and cause us to incur
expenses to make architectural changes.

To be successful, our network infrastructure has to perform well and be reliable. The greater the user traffic and the greater the complexity of our
products and services, the more computing power we will need. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts to purchase or lease data
centers and equipment and to upgrade our technology and network infrastructure to handle increased traffic on our web sites and to roll out new
products and services. This expansion is going to be expensive and complex and could result in inefficiencies or operational failures. If we do
not implement this expansion successfully, or if we experience inefficiencies and operational failures during the implementation, the quality of
our products and services and our users� experience could decline. This could damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential
users, advertisers and Google Network members. The costs associated with these adjustments to our architecture could harm our operating
results. Cost increases, loss of traffic or failure to accommodate new technologies or changing business requirements could harm our operating
results and financial condition.

We rely on bandwidth providers, data centers or other third parties for key aspects of the process of providing products and services to our
users, and any failure or interruption in the services and products provided by these third parties could harm our ability to operate our
business and damage our reputation.

We rely on third-party vendors, including data center and bandwidth providers. Any disruption in the network access or co-location services
provided by these third-party providers or any failure of these third-party providers to handle current or higher volumes of use could
significantly harm our business. Any financial or other difficulties our providers face may have negative effects on our business, the nature and
extent of which we cannot predict. We exercise little control over these third party vendors, which increases our vulnerability to problems with
the services they provide. We license technology and related databases from third parties to facilitate aspects of our data center and connectivity
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service and availability for such elements. Any errors, failures, interruptions or delays experienced in connection with these third-party
technologies and information services could negatively impact our relationship with users and adversely affect our brand and our business and
could expose us to liabilities to third parties.

Our systems are also heavily reliant on the availability of electricity, which also comes from third-party providers. If we were to experience a
major power outage, we would have to rely on back-up generators. These back-up generators may not operate properly through a major power
outage and their fuel supply could also be inadequate during a major power outage. This could result in a disruption of our business.

Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impair our ability to effectively provide our
products and services, which could damage our reputation and harm our operating results.

Our provision of our products and services depends on the continuing operation of our information technology and communications systems.
Any damage to or failure of our systems could result in interruptions in our service. Interruptions in our service could reduce our revenues and
profits, and our brand could be damaged if people believe our system is unreliable. Our systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from
earthquakes, terrorist attacks, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, computer viruses, computer denial of service attacks or
other attempts to harm our systems, and similar events. Some of our data centers are located in areas with a high risk of major earthquakes. Our
data centers are also subject to break-ins, sabotage and intentional acts of vandalism, and to potential disruptions if the operators of these
facilities have financial difficulties. Some of our systems are not fully redundant, and our disaster recovery planning cannot account for all
eventualities. The occurrence of a natural disaster, a decision to close a facility we are using without adequate notice for financial reasons or
other unanticipated problems at our data centers could result in lengthy interruptions in our service.

We have experienced system failures in the past and may in the future. For example, in November 2003 we failed to provide web search results
for approximately 20% of our traffic for a period of about 30 minutes. Any unscheduled interruption in our service puts a burden on our entire
organization and would result in an immediate loss of revenue. If we experience frequent or persistent system failures on our web sites, our
reputation and brand could be permanently harmed. The steps we have taken to increase the reliability and redundancy of our systems are
expensive, reduce our operating margin and may not be successful in reducing the frequency or duration of unscheduled downtime.

More individuals are using non-PC devices to access the Internet, and versions of our web search technology developed for these devices
may not be widely adopted by users of these devices.

The number of people who access the Internet through devices other than personal computers, including mobile telephones, hand-held
calendaring and email assistants, and television set-top devices, has increased dramatically in the past few years. The lower resolution,
functionality and memory associated with alternative devices make the use of our products and services through such devices difficult. If we are
unable to attract and retain a substantial number of alternative device users to our web search services or if we are slow to develop products and
technologies that are more compatible with non-PC communications devices, we will fail to capture a significant share of an increasingly
important portion of the market for online services.

If we account for employee stock options using the fair value method, it could significantly reduce our net income.
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There has been ongoing public debate whether stock options granted to employees should be treated as a compensation expense and, if so, how
to properly value such charges. On March 31, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued an Exposure Draft, �Share-Based
Payment�an amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95,� (proposed SFAS 123R) which would require a company to recognize, as an
expense, the fair value of stock options and other stock-based compensation to employees beginning on July 1, 2005 and subsequent reporting
periods. Prior to our initial public offering, we recorded deferred stock-based
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compensation to the extent that the reassessed values for accounting purposes of the underlying stock on the dates of grant exceeded the exercise
prices of the options. After the initial public offering, options have been granted at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the
underlying stock on the date of option grant. Accordingly, no deferred stock-based compensation has been recognized related to these stock
options. We recognize compensation expense as we amortize the deferred stock-based compensation amounts on an accelerated basis over the
related vesting periods. If we had used the fair value method of accounting for stock options granted to employees prior to October 1, 2004 using
a Black Scholes option valuation formula, our net income would have been $2.4 million less than reported in the year ended December 31, 2003
and $9.8 million less than reported in the nine months ended September 30, 2004. If we elect or are required to record an expense for our
stock-based compensation plans using the fair value method as described in the Exposure Draft, we could have on-going accounting charges
significantly greater than those we would have recorded under our current method of accounting for stock options. See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included at the beginning of this report for a more detailed presentation of accounting for stock-based
compensation plans.

Payments to certain of our Google Network members has exceeded the related fees we receive from our advertisers.

We have entered into, and may continue to enter into, minimum fee guarantee agreements with a small number of Google Network members. In
these agreements, we promise to make minimum payments to the Google Networks member for a pre-negotiated period of time, typically from
three months to a year or more. It is difficult to forecast with certainty the fees that we will earn under our agreements, and sometimes the fees
we earn fall short of the minimum guarantee payment amounts. Also, increasing competition for arrangements with web sites that are potential
Google Network members could result in our entering into more of these minimum fee guarantee agreements under which guaranteed payments
exceed the fees we receive from advertisers whose ads we place on those Google Network member sites. In each period to date, the aggregate
fees we have earned under these agreements have exceeded the aggregate amounts we have been obligated to pay these Google Network
members. However, individual agreements have resulted in guaranteed minimum and other payments to certain Google Network members in
excess of the related fees we receive from advertisers. We expect that some individual agreements will continue to result in guaranteed minimum
and other payments to certain Google Network members in excess of the related fees we receive from advertisers, which will adversely affect
our profitability. However, we expect that the aggregate fees we will earn under agreements with guaranteed minimum and other payments will
exceed the aggregate amounts we will be obligated to pay these Google Network members.

To the extent our revenues are paid in foreign currencies, and currency exchange rates become unfavorable, we may lose some of the
economic value of the revenues in U.S. dollar terms.

As we expand our international operations, more of our customers may pay us in foreign currencies. Conducting business in currencies other
than U.S. dollars subjects us to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If the currency exchange rates were to change unfavorably, the value of
net receivables we receive in foreign currencies and later convert to U.S. dollars after the unfavorable change would be diminished. This could
have a negative impact on our reported operating results. Hedging strategies, such as forward contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps
related to transaction exposures, that we have implemented or may implement to mitigate this risk may not eliminate our exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuations. Additionally, hedging programs expose us to risks that could adversely affect our operating results, including the
following:

� We have limited experience in implementing or operating hedging programs. Hedging programs are inherently risky and we could
lose money as a result of poor trades.

� We may be unable to hedge currency risk for some transactions because of a high level of uncertainty or the inability to reasonably
estimate our foreign exchange exposures.
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We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and non-income taxes in a variety of jurisdictions and our tax structure is subject to review by both domestic and
foreign taxation authorities. The determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant
judgment and in the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Although we believe our estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial
statements and may materially affect our financial results in the period or periods for which such determination is made.

We rely on insurance to mitigate some risks and, to the extent the cost of insurance increases or we are unable or choose not to maintain
sufficient insurance to mitigate the risks facing our business, our operating results may be diminished.

We contract for insurance to cover certain potential risks and liabilities. In the current environment, insurance companies are increasingly
specific about what they will and will not insure. It is possible that we may not be able to get enough insurance to meet our needs, may have to
pay very high prices for the coverage we do get or may not be able to acquire any insurance for certain types of business risk. In addition, we
have in the past and may in the future choose not to obtain insurance for certain risks facing our business. This could leave us exposed to
potential claims. If we were found liable for a significant claim in the future, our operating results could be negatively impacted. Also, to the
extent the cost of maintaining insurance increases, our operating results will be negatively affected.

Acquisitions could result in operating difficulties, dilution and other harmful consequences.

We do not have a great deal of experience acquiring companies and the companies we have acquired have been small. We have evaluated, and
expect to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic transactions. From time to time, we may engage in discussions regarding
potential acquisitions. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the process of
integrating an acquired company, business or technology may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and is risky. The areas
where we may face risks include:

� The need to implement or remediate controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at companies that prior
to the acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies.

� Diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration challenges.

� Cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization.

� Retaining employees from the businesses we acquire.

� The need to integrate each company�s accounting, management information, human resource and other administrative systems to
permit effective management.
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Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across
different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.
Also, the anticipated benefit of many of our acquisitions may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in potentially
dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any
of which could harm our financial condition. Future acquisitions may require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing, which may not be
available on favorable terms or at all.
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We occasionally become subject to commercial disputes that could harm our business by distracting our management from the operation of
our business, by increasing our expenses and, if we do not prevail, by subjecting us to potential monetary damages and other remedies.

From time to time we are engaged in disputes regarding our commercial transactions. These disputes could result in monetary damages or other
remedies that could adversely impact our financial position or operations. Even if we prevail in these disputes, they may distract our
management from operating our business and the cost of defending these disputes would reduce our operating results.

We have to keep up with rapid technological change to remain competitive in our rapidly evolving industry.

Our future success will depend on our ability to adapt to rapidly changing technologies, to adapt our services to evolving industry standards and
to improve the performance and reliability of our services. Our failure to adapt to such changes would harm our business. New technologies and
advertising media could adversely affect us. In addition, the widespread adoption of new Internet, networking or telecommunications
technologies or other technological changes could require substantial expenditures to modify or adapt our services or infrastructure.

Our business depends on increasing use of the Internet by users searching for information, advertisers marketing products and services and
web sites seeking to earn revenue to support their web content. If the Internet infrastructure does not grow and is not maintained to support
these activities, our business will be harmed.

Our success will depend on the continued growth and maintenance of the Internet infrastructure. This includes maintenance of a reliable network
backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity and security for providing reliable Internet services. Internet infrastructure may be unable to
support the demands placed on it if the number of Internet users continues to increase, or if existing or future Internet users access the Internet
more often or increase their bandwidth requirements. In addition, viruses, worms and similar programs may harm the performance of the
Internet. The Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure, and it could
face outages and delays in the future. These outages and delays could reduce the level of Internet usage as well as our ability to provide our
solutions.

Shares issued and options granted under our stock plans exceeded limitations in federal and state securities laws, the result of which is that
the holders of these shares and/or options may have rescission rights that could require us to reacquire the shares and/or options for an
aggregate repurchase price of up to $28.3 million.

Shares issued and options granted under our 1998 Stock Plan, our 2003 Stock Plan, our 2003 Stock Plan (No. 2) and our 2003 Stock Plan (No. 3)
from September 2001 through July 2004 may not have been exempt from registration or qualification under federal securities laws and the
securities laws of certain states. Certain of the shares issued during this period may not have been exempt from registration and qualification
requirements under Rule 701 under the Securities Act of 1933 and under those state securities laws that provide an exemption to the extent the
requirements under Rule 701 are met. We became aware that we were approaching the numeric limitations prescribed by Rule 701 in September
2002 and thereafter determined that we could not continue to count on being able to rely on Rule 701 to provide an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. In addition, continued compliance under Rule 701 would have required broad
dissemination of detailed financial information regarding our business, which would have been strategically disadvantageous to our company. In
evaluating how to issue stock upon exercise of outstanding options in light of these limitations we determined we would utilize �private
placement� exemptions provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 in order to exempt these issuances from federal registration
requirements notwithstanding the factual and legal uncertainties inherent in Section 4(2). These uncertainties arise because analyzing whether or
not issuances of securities qualify for the exemptions afforded by Section 4(2) involves a
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number of subjective determinations including whether the number of offerees constitutes a general solicitation, the financial sophistication of
offerees and their access to information regarding the issuer, as well as whether the offering was designed to result in a distribution of shares to
the general public. We considered various alternatives in determining to rely on the exemption provided by Section 4(2) despite its inherent
uncertainties. We considered ceasing granting options and shares to service providers. However, we determined that this would be detrimental to
our development, as equity compensation was an essential ingredient to building our company. We also considered becoming a reporting
company for the purposes of federal securities laws. We determined that this too would be contrary to the best interests of our stockholders. We
therefore concluded that relying on Section 4(2) despite its uncertainties was in the best interest of our security holders. Because of this
uncertainty in relying on Section 4(2), the options we granted and the shares issued upon exercise of these options during this period may have
been issued in violation of either federal or state securities laws, or both, and may be subject to rescission. In order to address this issue, we
intend to make a rescission offer to the holders of these shares and options, which we expect to commence in November 2004. We will be
making this rescission offer to 1,362 persons who are or were residents of Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, the District of Columbia,
Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Texas,
Virginia and Washington.

If this rescission offer is accepted by all offerees, we could be required to make aggregate payments to the holders of these shares and options of
up to $28.3 million, which includes statutory interest. For options, this exposure reflects the costs of offering to rescind the issuance of the
outstanding options by paying an amount equal to 20% of the aggregate exercise price for the entire option, plus statutory interest. However, it is
possible that an optionholder could argue that this does not represent an adequate remedy for the issuance of the option in violation of applicable
securities laws, and if a court were to impose a greater remedy, our exposure as a result of the rescission offer could be higher. For issuances of
common stock, this exposure is calculated by reference to the purchase price of the common stock, plus statutory interest. Federal securities laws
do not provide that a rescission offer will terminate a purchaser�s right to rescind a sale of stock that was not registered as required or was not
otherwise exempt from such registration requirements. If any or all of the offerees reject the rescission offer, we may continue to be liable under
federal and state securities laws for up to an amount equal to the value of all options and common stock granted or issued since September 2001
plus any statutory interest we may be required to pay. We also understand that the Securities and Exchange Commission has initiated an
informal inquiry into this matter and certain state regulators, including California, have requested additional information. If it is determined that
we offered securities without properly registering them under federal or state law, or securing an exemption from registration, regulators could
impose monetary fines or other sanctions as provided under these laws.

If our involvement in a September 2004 magazine article about Google were held to be in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, we could be
required to repurchase securities sold in our initial public offering.

Information about Google has been published in an article appearing in the September 2004 issue of Playboy Magazine and entitled �Playboy
Interview: Google Guys.� The text of the article contains information derived from an interview of Larry and Sergey conducted in April 2004,
prior to our initial public offering. The article includes quotations from Larry and Sergey, and has been reprinted by a number of news media
outlets. The article presented certain statements about our company in isolation and did not disclose many of the related risks and uncertainties
described in the prospectus relating to our initial public offering.

We do not believe that our involvement in the Playboy Magazine article constitutes a violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933.
However, if our involvement were held by a court to be in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, we could be required to repurchase the shares
sold to purchasers in our initial public offering at the original purchase price, plus statutory interest from the date of purchase, for a period of one
year following the date of the violation. We would contest vigorously any claim that a violation of the Securities Act occurred. The SEC has also
requested additional information concerning the publication of the article.
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We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to
pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We will incur increased costs as a result of being a public company.

As a public company, we have incurred and will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private
company. We will incur costs associated with our public company reporting requirements. We also anticipate that we will incur costs associated
with recently adopted corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as new rules
implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NASD. We expect these rules and regulations to increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. We also expect these new rules and regulations may
make it more difficult and more expensive for us to maintain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced
policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us
to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers. We are currently evaluating and monitoring
developments with respect to these new rules, and we cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of
such costs.

The concentration of our capital stock ownership with our founders, executive officers and our directors and their affiliates will limit your
ability to influence corporate matters.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. At September 30, 2004 our founders,
executive officers and directors (and their affiliates) together owned approximately 67.6% of our Class B common stock, representing
approximately 66.0% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. In particular, at September 30, 2004, our two founders and our CEO,
Larry, Sergey and Eric, controlled approximately 41.0% of our outstanding Class B common stock, representing approximately 40.1% of the
voting power of our outstanding capital stock. Larry, Sergey and Eric therefore have significant influence over management and affairs and over
all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other
sale of our company or its assets, for the foreseeable future. In addition, because of this dual class structure, our founders, directors, executives
and employees will continue to be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval even if they come to own less than 50%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock. This concentrated control limits your ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we
may take actions that our stockholders do not view as beneficial. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely
affected.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our
management. These provisions include the following:

� Our certificate of incorporation provides for a dual class common stock structure. As a result of this structure our founders, executives
and employees have significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and
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significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. This concentrated control could
discourage others from initiating any potential merger, takeover or other change of control transaction that other stockholders may
view as beneficial.

� Our board of directors has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors.

� Our stockholders may not act by written consent. As a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of our capital stock would not
be able to take certain actions without holding a stockholders� meeting.
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� Our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors. This limits the ability of minority stockholders
to elect director candidates.

� Stockholders must provide advance notice to nominate individuals for election to the board of directors or to propose matters that can
be acted upon at a stockholders� meeting. These provisions may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation
of proxies to elect the acquiror�s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

� Our board of directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock. The ability to authorize
undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or
preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to certain Delaware anti-takeover provisions. Under Delaware law, a corporation may not engage
in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other
things, the board of directors has approved the transaction. Our board of directors could rely on Delaware law to prevent or delay an acquisition
of us.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates and marketable equity security prices.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses is the result of certain net receivables due from our foreign subsidiaries and
customers being denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the British Pound, the Euro and the Japanese Yen. Our foreign
subsidiaries conduct their businesses in local currency. Effective January 2004, we began to bill our international online sales through a foreign
subsidiary, which will lower our exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses. In addition, effective January 2004 our board of
directors approved a foreign exchange hedging program designed to minimize the future potential impact due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. The program allows for the hedging of transaction exposures. The types of derivatives that can be used under the policy are
forward contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps. The primary vehicle we expect to use will be forward contracts. We also generate
revenue in certain countries in Asia where there are limited forward currency exchange markets, thus making these exposures difficult to hedge.
In the three months ended September 30, 2004, we entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to offset the foreign exchange risk on certain
existing intercompany assets. The notional principal of forward exchange contracts to purchase U.S. dollars with Euros was $173.3 million at
September 30, 2004. There were no other forward exchange contracts outstanding at September 30, 2004.

Our exposure to foreign currency translation gains and losses arises from the translation of net assets of our subsidiaries to U.S. dollars during
consolidation. To date, translation gains and losses have not been material.

We considered the historical trends in currency exchange rates and determined that it was reasonably possible that adverse changes in exchange
rates of 10% for all currencies could be experienced in the near term. These changes would have resulted in an adverse impact on income before
taxes of approximately $19.9 million and $4.5 million at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003. The adverse impact at September 30,
2004 is after consideration of the offsetting effect of approximately $14.9 million from our outstanding forward exchange contracts. These
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reasonably possible adverse changes in exchange rates of 10% were applied to total monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the
local currencies at the balance sheet dates to compute the adverse impact these changes would have had on our income before taxes in the near
term. The increase in the reasonably possible adverse impact of $19.9 million at September 30, 2004 from $4.5 million at December 31, 2003
was primarily the result of an increase in accounts receivable, intercompany receivables and cash held by our Irish subsidiary denominated in
foreign currencies, offset by the positive impact from our outstanding forward exchange contracts.
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Interest Rate Risk

We invest in a variety of securities, consisting primarily of investments in interest-bearing demand deposit accounts with financial institutions,
tax-exempt money market funds and highly liquid debt securities of corporations and municipalities. By policy, we limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one issuer.

Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning products carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their
fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than predicted if
interest rates fall. Due in part to these factors, our income from investments may decrease in the future.

We considered the historical volatility of short term interest rates and determined that it was reasonably possible that an adverse change of 100
basis points could be experienced in the near term. A hypothetical 1.00% (100 basis-point) increase in interest rates would have resulted in a
decrease in the fair values of our investment securities of approximately $14.5 million and $1.9 million at September 30, 2004 and December 31,
2003. The increase in this amount from December 31, 2003 to September 30, 2004 is due to the substantial increase in our investment securities
balances as a result of proceeds from our initial public offering completed in August 2004.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report.
The evaluation included certain internal control areas in which we have made and are continuing to make changes to improve and enhance
controls. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Changes in internal controls over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Since 2003 we have invested significant resources to comprehensively document and analyze our system of internal controls. We have identified
areas of our internal controls requiring improvement, and are in the process of designing enhanced processes and controls to address issues
identified through this review. Areas of improvement include streamlining our domestic and international billing processes, further limiting
internal access to certain data systems and continuing to improve coordination across business functions. We plan to continue this initiative as
well as prepare for our first management report on internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 on December 31, 2005. As a result, we expect to make changes in our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II�OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On August 9, 2004, we and Yahoo entered into a settlement agreement resolving two disputes that had been pending between us. The first
dispute concerned a lawsuit filed by Yahoo�s wholly-owned subsidiary, Overture Services, Inc., against us in April 2002 asserting that certain
services infringed Overture�s U.S. Patent No. 6,269,361. In our court filings, we denied that we infringed the patent and alleged that the patent
was invalid and unenforceable.

The second dispute concerned a warrant held by Yahoo to purchase 3,719,056 shares of our stock in connection with a June 2000 services
agreement. Pursuant to a conversion provision in the warrant, in June 2003 we issued 1,229,944 shares to Yahoo. Yahoo contended it was
entitled to a greater number of shares, while we contended that we had fully complied with the terms of the warrant.

As part of the settlement, Overture dismissed its patent lawsuit against us and has granted us a fully-paid, perpetual license to the patent that was
the subject of the lawsuit and several related patent applications held by Overture. The parties also mutually released any claims against each
other concerning the warrant dispute. In connection with the settlement of these two disputes, we issued to Yahoo 2,700,000 shares of Class A
common stock.

Certain companies have filed trademark infringement and related claims against us over the display of ads in response to user queries that
include trademarked terms. The outcomes of these lawsuits have differed from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. A court in France has held us liable
for allowing advertisers to select certain trademarked terms as keywords. We have appealed this decision. We are also subject to two lawsuits in
Germany on similar matters where the courts held that we are not liable for the actions of our advertisers prior to notification of trademark
rights. One of the plaintiffs has appealed the court�s ruling. We are litigating similar issues in other cases in the U.S., France, Germany and Italy.
Adverse results in these lawsuits may result in, or even compel, a change in this practice which could result in a loss of revenue for us, which
could harm our business.

From time to time, we may also become a party to other litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. For example,
because our products and services link to or host material in which others allege to own copyrights, from time to time third parties have asserted
copyright infringement or related claims against us. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe
that the final outcome of the matters discussed above will not have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of the outcome,
litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

1. In the three-month period ended September 30, 2004, we issued 76,000 shares of common stock, which includes 16,018 shares issuable
upon exercise of options, with an estimated approximate aggregate value of $6,080,000 to the former shareholders of a privately-held
technology corporation in connection with the our acquisition of such corporation.
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2. In the three-month period ended September 30, 2004, we issued to our directors, officers, employees and consultants 48,728 shares of
common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $473,483.05 upon the exercise of previously granted options.

The stock issuances described in paragraph 2 above include the issuance of 43,659 shares of our common stock that may not have been exempt
from registration or qualification requirements under federal or state securities laws. Consequently, the stock shares issued may have been issued
in violation of federal or state
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securities laws, or both, and may be subject to rescission. In order to address this issue, we will make a rescission offer to the holders of these
shares, pursuant to which the registrant will offer to repurchase the shares from the holder. If our rescission offer is accepted by the holders of
these shares, we could be required to make an aggregate payment to these holders of up to approximately $402,836.20, which includes statutory
interest. There are no assurances that we will not be subject to penalties or fines relating to these stock issuances, however, we believe that the
rescission offer could provide additional meritorious defenses against any future claims relating to these stock issuances.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description

31.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

GOOGLE INC.

Date: November 15, 2004 By: /s/    ERIC SCHMIDT        

Eric Schmidt

Chairman of the Executive Committee

and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

31.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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